

Documento de Trabajo Serie Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias Número 4 / 2008

Due process and public policy in the international enforcement of class arbitration awards

Stacie I. Strong

Documento de Trabajo Serie Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias Número 4 / 2008

Due process and public policy in the international enforcement of class arbitration awards

Stacie I. Strong

El Centro Internacional de Arbitraje, Mediación y Negociación (CIAMEN) es un Centro académico de investigación, docencia y divulgación de todas las cuestiones relacionadas con el arbitraje y los métodos alternativos de resolución de conflictos.

El CIAMEN forma parte de los Centros especializados del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos de la Universidad CEU San Pablo. Su objetivo principal es establecer un foro de discusión y análisis en esta área desde una perspectiva internacional, y servir de centro de documentación, investigación y publicaciones tanto para la comunidad académica como para las empresas, los abogados, los organismos internacionales y las administraciones públicas.

El CIAMEN publica, en su colección de documentos de trabajo, estudios y análisis sobre arbitraje y otros métodos de resolución de conflictos. Las opiniones y juicios de los autores no son, necesariamente, compartidos por el Centro.

Serie *Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias* de Documentos de Trabajo del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos.

Due process and public policy in the international enforcement of class arbitration awards

Cualquier forma de reproducción, distribución, comunicación pública o transformación de esta obra sólo puede ser realizada con la autorización de sus titulares, salvo excepción prevista por la ley. Diríjase a CEDRO (Centro Español de Derechos Reprográficos, www.cedro.org) si necesita fotocopiar o escanear algún fragmento de esta obra.

Derechos reservados © 2009, por Stacie I. Strong Derechos reservados © 2009, por Fundación Universitaria San Pablo CEU

CEU Ediciones Julián Romea 18, 28003 Madrid www.ceu.es

Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid www.idee.ceu.es

ISBN: 978-84-92456-37-6 Depósito legal: M-15331-2099

Compuesto e impreso en el Servicio de Publicaciones de la Fundación Universitaria San Pablo CEU

Sumario

1. INTRODUCTION	5
2. REPRESENTATIVE AND COLLECTIVE ACTIONS AROUND THE WORLD	7
2.1. Class Actions in US Federal Courts	8
2.2. Representative Actions Outside the US	11
3. CLASS ARBITRATIONS	12
3.1. Roots of Class Arbitration	12
3.2. Procedures in Class Arbitration	13
4. CLASS ARBITRATION IN THE INTERNATIONAL CONTEXT	19
4.1. Class Arbitration Outside the United States	19
4.2. International Enforcement of Class Arbitral Awards	21
5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	32
5.1. Current Status of International Class Arbitration	32
5.2. International Class Arbitration Going Forward	33
SELECT RIBLIOGRAPHY OF CITED AND BACKGROUND MATERIAL	37

Due process and public policy in the international enforcement of class arbitration awards¹

Stacie I. Strong

Associate Professor School of Law, University of Missouri-Columbia

1. Introduction

Courts, commentators and commercial actors have long touted arbitration as the best means of resolving international commercial disputes, largely because arbitration – with its many international and regional treaties on enforcement of awards – is a much more efficient and reliable means of recovering against a foreign entity than litigation is. However, the international arbitral regime will soon face a new challenge as class arbitration – a US-initiated dispute resolution mechanism that has been in existence domestically since the early 1980s² – becomes increasingly international. Indeed, a number of international class arbitrations seated in the United States already exist. For example, *Harvard College v JSC Surgutneftegaz* involves a defendant based in the Russian Federation; *CBR Enterprises, LLC v Blimpie International, Inc* involves several US defendants with significant international holdings that could be subject to international enforcement orders; and *Bagpeddler.com v US Bancorp* could include non-US plaintiffs as part of its class of up to 400,000 internet vendors.³

Although international class arbitration raises many issues,⁴ this Article focuses on fundamental conceptual objections that can and will likely be raised at the enforcement stage. The two most compelling arguments against international enforcement of a foreign class award are likely to be based on due process and public policy. Although they will not be discussed separately as such, these two arguments could also be made in many countries in a motion to set aside a class award, particularly if the nation in question has, like Spain, modelled its arbitration laws on the 1985 United Nations Commission on International Trade Law Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration ("UNCITRAL Model Law").⁵

These two areas of concern – due process and public policy – indicate that the debate about the legitimacy of international class arbitration will take place at a fundamental level, possibly requiring a radical reconceptualization of both (1) acceptable procedure in international arbitration and (2) the nature of individual rights in arbitration. First, due process concerns reflect the manner in which class arbitration

This paper was short listed for the 1st International Arbitration Prize, organised by the International Centre for Arbitration, Mediation and Negotiation (CIAMEN) of the University Institute for European Studies of the CEU San Pablo University (Madrid).

See Keating v Superior Court, 645 P.2d 1192, 1209-10 (Cal. 1982), rev'd on other grounds sub nom. Southland Corp v Keating, 465 U.S. 1 (1984). Class arbitration received the implicit approval of the US Supreme Court in Green Tree Financial Corp v Bazzle, 539 U.S. 444 (2003).

³ See http://www.adr.org/sp.asp?id=25562 (searching under party name).

⁴ For example, class arbitration might be considered analogous to consolidated proceedings. See Strong (forthcoming).

⁵ See, e.g., UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration, U.N. Doc. A/40/17, annex I, and A/61/17, annex I (21 June 1985, amended 7 July 2006), art. 34(2)(a)(ii), 34(2)(b)(ii); 2003 Arbitration Act (Spain), art. 41; Cairns, p. 592.

challenges established norms about the arbitral process itself. International commercial arbitration developed primarily as a means of enforcing bilateral contracts, and the vast majority of its policies and procedures reflect that tradition. Even multiparty (non-class) arbitration is typically viewed through the lens of a two-party procedure. Class arbitrations challenge these norms due to both the size of the classes (which can include hundreds or even hundreds of thousands of parties) and their representative nature.

Although further details of class procedure will be discussed below, at its core, class arbitration is a representative (class) action gone private. Class actions (which currently exist in a number of different legal systems) have been defined as "a procedural joinder device that permits one or more persons to initiate a lawsuit as a representative of all those similarly situated." By analogy, therefore, a class arbitration involves "an arbitrator selected and paid by the parties, rather than an elected or appointed judge, [who] presides over a class action" and thus "decides whether to certify a class, determines the form and manner of notice to class members, resolves all issues of law and fact, and enters an award that might bind many hundreds or thousands of class members." A class arbitration can result when a group of individuals (1) suffers the same or similar injury and (2) has the same or similar arbitration agreement with the defendant(s). Several named claimants then bring an action, on behalf of themselves and others who are similarly situated, for damages and/or for injunctive or declaratory relief.

Class arbitrations are an accepted procedure within the United States, with over 120 such actions pending in front of one arbitration provider – the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") – as of early 2007.8 They have also been seen in other countries, both common and civil law, as discussed below. Although many class arbitrations will – like class actions – involve only domestic parties, the realities of the global economy mean that international class disputes are on the rise. Insurance companies, financial institutions and manufacturers are only some of the types of corporate defendants who will find themselves subject to demands for class arbitration.

As class arbitrations develop internationally, questions will arise about how these proceedings should be structured. Disputes about the arbitral procedure will be raised in international enforcement proceedings as due process objections, as discussed below.

The second major objection to enforcement – public policy – reflects the tension between how different countries conceptualize individual rights. Unlike common law countries (which often permit representative actions, albeit to varying degrees), civil law jurisdictions tend to limit or prohibit such actions based on concerns about individual rights. These concerns are twofold. First, plaintiffs have the right to choose the time and manner of bringing a cause of action. Second, defendants have the right to mount a full defence of all legal and factual claims brought against them. Representative actions – in court or in arbitration – jeopardize both these principles. Under civil law jurisprudence, absent class members are not always considered to be effectively choosing to exercise their right to a cause of action. Similarly, defendants are considered unable to defend themselves adequately against the generalized claims of absent class members.

Class arbitration is currently set up to reflect the common law bias in favour of representative proceedings. As class arbitration becomes more international, state courts – particularly those in civil law countries – will have to consider whether and to what extent they should permit foreign conceptions of rights to be enforced in arbitration.

⁶ Weston, p. 1726.

Weidemaier, p. 70.

⁸ Ibid

All of these concepts are discussed in more detail below, and the Article proceeds as follows. Section II discusses the nature of representative actions, identifying the rationales for such actions and describing how different conceptions of rights affect the form, shape and availability of a nation's representative actions. This discussion begins to identify potential arguments for and against the enforcement of class arbitral awards based on public policy, since the public policies regarding representative actions in national courts may also be used to oppose or enforce international class awards.

Section III discusses how class arbitrations typically proceed. The focus here is on the procedural rules recently published by two arbitration providers, the AAA and JAMS, since those rules will likely form the procedural foundation of class arbitration in the coming years. This section also discusses the extent to which the arbitral rules mirror the class action provisions of the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. These similarities are important because the Federal Rules are known to comply with US notions of due process, and due process will be a likely area of concern in international enforcement proceedings.

Section IV brings class arbitration into the international realm. The section begins with a discussion of class arbitrations in countries other than United States, which gives some guidance on the acceptability of the procedure beyond US borders. The section then describes the standards which must be met to lodge a successful objection to international enforcement of an award based on due process and public policy concerns. Because the United Nations' 1958 Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards ("New York Convention")⁹ is the primary means by which international awards are enforced, this Article focuses on the due process and public policy provisions in the New York Convention as illustrative of the type of arguments that will arise in an enforcement proceeding.

Section V concludes the Article with a discussion of the future of international class arbitrations as a matter of procedure and enforcement. The section also provides recommendations on how parties and arbitrators might structure class arbitrations to maximize the likelihood of an internationally enforceable award.

2. Representative and Collective Actions Around the World

Although the United States class action is the perhaps the best known means of providing representative relief to large groups of plaintiffs, most countries have considered their own forms of representative or collective relief. For example, the European Directive on Injunctions for the Protection of Consumers' Interests ("European Directive")¹⁰ required all Member States of the European Union to assign rights of action to "qualified entities," defined either as organizations (including consumer associations) or independent public bodies, that allowed those entities to file a group litigation on behalf of a specifically defined group of people who had been injured by the defendant's conduct. However, these actions are not analogous to US-style class actions, since the European Directive explicitly noted that "collective interests mean interests which do not include the cumulation of interests of individuals which have been harmed by an infringement."¹¹

In fact, the issue of group rights and injuries is becoming increasingly urgent throughout the world. ¹² The common objectives of any class or representative action include principled predictability; proportionality of

^{9 330} U.N.T.S. 3.

¹⁰ Council Directive 98/27, 1998 O.J. (L 166) 51.

¹¹ *Ibid.* (preserving, without prejudice, "individual actions brought by individuals who have been harmed by an infringement").

¹² In the last 30 years, there have been four international congresses dedicated to comparative studies of class actions, with the most recent in July 2000. Gidi, pp. 324 n.22, 402.

treatment (all class members receive some good, potentially smaller than if they had proceeded individually, in return for increased efficiency); access to justice; judicial economy; and balancing judicial activism and personal autonomy. Though individual compensation may be a goal, participants in group litigation may also seek to bring about social or legal change.¹³

Because the US has the largest known number of currently pending class arbitrations, and the only published class arbitration rules (the Supplementary Rules on Class Arbitration adopted by the AAA on October 8, 2003 ("AAA Supplementary Rules")¹⁴ and the Class Action Procedures adopted by JAMS in February 2005 ("JAMS Class Arbitration Rules")¹⁵ are based on the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, it will be useful to consider the public policies behind US class actions to anticipate the arguments that will be made in motions to enforce international class awards. Although Hans Smit has criticized the decision to mirror the US Federal Rules as "an uninspired and superficial effort to introduce into arbitration a form of action that, on the whole, has not worked properly in litigation and . . . will exacerbate the problems it has encountered in court litigation,"¹⁶ the choice was likely made because the US Federal Rules are a known commodity that would ease the transition to a new form of action. For example, Carole Buckner has said that "[t]he scope of due process in class action litigation defines the possible scope of due process protection that arbitration providers should consider providing in class arbitration."¹⁷

Although space limitations prohibit a detailed comparative analysis, it is useful to know how other systems – particularly civil law systems – view representative actions, since objections to international class arbitration are likely to arise from outside the United States. Therefore, a short discussion of other systems' views of representative actions follows the section on US class actions.

2.1. Class Actions in US Federal Courts

Class actions are both praised and excoriated in the United States. Some consider such actions a lawyer-driven form of "legalized blackmail" while others have characterized them as a "powerful and pervasive instrument[] of social change." US class actions can arise in a variety of contexts, though "the majority . . . are damages class actions against business defendants." Banks, insurance companies and manufacturers are typical defendants in class actions, and claimants can seek injunctive relief in addition to (or instead of) money damages. Although class actions began as a domestic procedural device, they have become increasingly transnational.

US Federal Judge Jack Weinstein, one of the foremost experts on class actions in the United States, has identified the following advantages to class actions, many of which also apply to class arbitration:

- 1. They reduce duplication of discovery, motion practice, and pretrial procedures.
- 2. They allow a single judge to familiarize himself or herself with the legal and factual issues.
- 3. They provide consistency of results for all the injured and for the defendants.

¹³ Mulheron, pp. 47-63; Taruffo, pp. 407-09.

 $^{^{14}}$ $\,$ $\it See\, http://www.adr.org/sp.asp?id=21936$ [hereinafter "AAA Supplementary Rules"].

See http://www.jamsadr.com/rules/class_action.asp [hereinafter "JAMS Class Arbitration Rules"].

¹⁶ Smit, p. 211.

¹⁷ Buckner 2, p. 195.

¹⁸ Weston, p. 1726.

¹⁹ Buckner 1, p. 301.

- 4. They enhance the possibility of a single action resolving the entire problem, hence preventing the need for repetitive litigation of similar issues. Those who opt out of the class (as is often possible) will generally represent but a small percentage of possible claimants.
- 5. They permit plaintiffs' attorneys to generate enough capital to conduct the litigation on a playing field level for both sides.²⁰
- 6. They enhance the possibility of a global settlement, which can provide reasonable relief for prospective claimants while limiting the costs for both parties and providing closure to the dispute for defendants.
- 7. They provide the possibility of a single fair punitive damage amount instead of repetitive and overlapping punishment. . . .
- 8. They give the court power to control legal fees which may otherwise be much greater than warranted.
- 9. They allow a single appellate panel to review the case.
- 10. Perhaps most important, they permit recoveries for small claims by those who may not even know they were injured and almost certainly would not bother to sue even if they had known. By, in theory, requiring a defendant to pay the entire social cost of its delicts they should avoid much of the reason for high punitive damages.²¹

Julian Lew has identified similar benefits to multiparty arbitration (albeit outside the class context), suggesting multiparty arbitration should proceed when it would encourage procedural economy; avoid inconsistent awards; increase fairness by facilitating fact-finding and presenting legal and factual arguments; address any confidentiality concerns; and uphold the equal ability to choose arbitrators.²² Class actions (or arbitrations) also allow defendants to bring complex disputes to a close relatively quickly, thus allowing defendants to "get on with their affairs" and avoid large transactional costs.²³

However, there are also a number of disadvantages associated with class actions. For example:

- 1. The judge may lack familiarity with the law if more than one jurisdiction's substantive law must be applied.
- 2. They increase the complexity of the litigation.
- 3. They place a significant burden on individual courts, since they are time consuming, containing more factual and legal issues than any individual case.
- 4. They remove local issues from their normal venue. Forum shopping problems are compounded.
- 5. They supersede the local jury's role and replace it with a jury that may be unfamiliar with local conditions.
- 6. They often require the application of many different substantive laws, some of which are still in a state of uncertainty.

US class actions typically proceed on a contingency fee basis that proves very lucrative for plaintiffs' counsel should plaintiffs prevail. Few, if any, class actions are filed without a contingency fee arrangement in place.

²¹ Weinstein, pp. 172-74.

²² Lew, et al., ¶ 16-92.

²³ Weinstein, pp. 174-75.

- 7. They attenuate the usual individual client-attorney relationship, creating new ethical pressures.
- 8. They are often in significant tension with federalism assumptions. One elected state county judge may bind the nation.
- 9. They may force defendants to settle because of the threat of huge awards.
- 10. Finally, there is the fundamental problem that the Supreme Court has been dealing with protecting the rights of those class members with little knowledge of the suit, virtually no ability to monitor their attorneys, and potential conflicts with other members of the class.²⁴

Although most of the advantages of class actions apply equally to class arbitration, the disadvantages of judicial class actions do not track class arbitration quite as closely, due to the privatized nature of arbitration. For example, the courts are not clogged by large cases, since arbitrators work independently, nor are there choice of forum, choice of law or jury issues, since the parties have chosen arbitration precisely to avoid such concerns. The only real concerns involve ethical issues; pressure to settle; and, most importantly, due process issues. Thus class arbitrations would seem at least as socially beneficial, and possibly more so, than class actions.

However, class actions force judges play a unique and difficult role. The Federal Judicial Center, which is the national research and training agency for US judges, notes that judges not only must "anticipate[] the consequences of poorly equipped class representatives or attorneys, inadequate class settlement provisions, and overly generous fee stipulations," they also "cannot rely on adversaries to shape the issues that [the judge] must resolve in the class context."²⁵ In particular, judges need assistance from their peers "to determine when class representatives are 'adequate' and whether a settlement's terms are 'fair' to the class as a whole, 'reasonable' in relation to the class's legitimate claims, and 'adequate' to redress class members' actual losses."²⁶ Judges in class actions can also expect to "determine[] when and how to decide class certification motions" and "review[] notice plans and notices to the class to ensure the best notice practicable."²⁷

Indeed, the reason why the court plays this unusually active role in administering class actions is "to ensure fairness and to protect the due process rights of those class members not participating in the case. The elaborate procedural steps in such representative litigation – fairness oversight, notice, adequacy of representation and judicial involvement in class certification – reflect important constitutional due process protections." In this context, due process "protection includes, at a minimum: notice, a meaningful opportunity to participate, and adequate representation. Rule 23 provisions reflect these constitutional requirements, and the court's role is critical in safeguarding the due process rights of absent class members." Of course, notice and the opportunity to participate have also received heightened protection in international arbitration.

Interestingly, a number of the procedures that the Federal Judicial Center has found to be a "best practice" in class actions – for example, using objectors to provide additional information to the court, either through written submissions or through attendance at a class settlement fairness hearing – may not be permitted in an arbitral setting due to issues about confidentiality.³⁰ Furthermore, US courts handling class actions

²⁴ *Ibid.*, pp. 172-74.

²⁵ Rothstein & Willging, p. 2.

²⁶ *Ibid*.

²⁷ Ibid.

²⁸ Buckner 2, pp. 188-89.

²⁹ Weston, p. 1728.

³⁰ Compare Rothstein & Willging, pp. 11, 21 with Lew, et al., ¶¶ 16-75 (noting issues concerning confidentiality in multiparty arbitrations), 24-99 (discussing the centrality of confidentiality to arbitration).

often work in tandem with other government actors, either on regulatory issues or when coordinating class actions that are proceeding in different fora, something which may be difficult in arbitration. Finally, the Federal Judicial Center recognizes that some judges must deal with '[t]ruly global settlements [that] will include class members whose language is not English and who may not be citizens of an English-speaking country."³¹ In these situations, effective notice becomes even more difficult. The problem is compounded by the fact that notice and adequacy of representation typically serve as proxy for due process, allowing the court to bind absent class members in a court-administered class action. The relationship between US class action procedures and due process will be discussed in more detail in Section III.B.2 below.

2.2. Representative Actions Outside the US

Despite the predominance of the US class action procedure in discussions regarding representative actions, a growing number of jurisdictions have considered implementing their own versions of collective and representative actions. However, these other models do not necessarily resemble that found in the US Indeed, many states – particularly civil law systems – have deep-seated concerns about the US model due to fundamental conceptual differences about how individual rights operate. Indeed, Antonio Gidi has said that if "major legal innovation" is to occur in the area of representative actions, "civil law jurists must first arrive at a consensus to change the 'science'" upon which the civil law is built.

Although a detailed jurisprudential discussion is outside the scope of this Article, the differences in mindset are pronounced. First and foremost, civil law jurisdictions emphasize the individual nature of legal claims, a notion that would be violated by a representative mechanism that disposes of the rights of absent class members. This is because civil law nations interpret a class action – even with an opt-out provision – as an infringement of a non-representative plaintiff's right to decide when and how to exercise his or her right to a cause of action. Because the right to an individual cause of action is inviolate and cannot be overcome by arguments of social or judicial efficiency, civil law nations resist a wide rule allowing representative actions.

Furthermore, to the extent that some civil law systems have instituted group or collective actions, they have typically not done so to redress individual harm; instead, such causes of action typically address general commercial practices deemed to be illegal. This approach not only maintains respect for individual rights – since the right at issue is a collective or social right – it also reflects the civil law's preference for having the legislature, rather than the judiciary, constitute the means of addressing mass injuries.

In addition to the jurisprudential concerns, there are pragmatic issues. Lawyers in civil law countries are suspicious of any procedure that requires a great deal of judicial intervention, since judges typically do not wield that kind of power in civil law systems.³⁵ Furthermore, many civil law lawyers are suspicious of US-style class actions because they believe (mistakenly) that certain litigation practices that they see as highly problematic – including contingency fees, punitive damages and massive discovery – are a necessary part of the class action mechanism.

³¹ Rothstein & Willging, p. 19.

³² See generally Chase, et al., pp. 390-434 (describing collective or representative actions in different jurisdictions).

Baumgartner 1, pp. 320-21 (basing the Swiss emphasis on individual causes of action on nineteenth century German Pandectism and Kantian concepts of free will); Cappalli & Consolo, p. 264 (noting US class actions are legally "inconceivable" in the civilian mindset); Gidi, pp. 344-45 (discussing the concept of "subjective right" that is prevalent in the civil law and identifying Hans Kelsen as one of the few writers in English who has discussed "subjective rights").

³⁴ Gidi, p. 346.

However, international arbitration permits a great deal of procedural flexibility, so an activist arbitrator in a class arbitration might be more acceptable to a civil law lawyer than an activist judge.

Thus, it is not surprising that representative actions are found primarily in common law jurisdictions, with countries such as Canada³⁶ and Australia³⁷ recognising a broad form of such actions, similar to that found in the United States. England permits representative relief, but on a limited basis.³⁸ Instead, England has adopted a group litigation procedure in compliance with the European Directive, and therefore is closer to the continental system in its manner of addressing collective harms than it is to common law models.³⁹ Other than the Canadian civil law province of Quebec, few civil law jurisdictions permit representative relief, although Brazil⁴⁰ and Colombia⁴¹ have apparently taken strides in that direction. Switzerland permits an association action (similar to that mandated by the European Directive) at civil law, though the right to relief is expanded somewhat for administrative law matters, allowing some individuals to initiate a representative proceeding.⁴²

3. Class Arbitrations

3.1. Roots of Class Arbitration

Procedurally, most class arbitrations will be similar to judicial class proceedings in the state in which the arbitration is seated, though US procedural approaches could come to predominate, due to both the prevalence of class arbitrations seated in the US and the US bias of the class arbitration rules promulgated by the AAA and JAMS, as discussed below. Despite the anticipated similarities to court proceedings, class arbitrations are nevertheless subject to arbitration's unique policy and procedural distinctions. For example, arbitration is typically considered a purely contractual construct first and foremost, a dispute resolution mechanism that has no form or validity outside the four corners of the parties' arbitration agreement. Although arbitration has its supporters, it also has critics, who claim it is "an inferior system of justice, structure without due process, rules of evidence, accountability of judgment and rules of law." Any determinations made in an arbitration are "not intended to serve the public interest, but only that of the parties who have paid for the arbitration," which could arguably conflict with the espoused public interest aspects of judicial class actions.

Although many of the issues concerning international arbitration have been refined over the years, international class arbitration creates a whole new set of concerns. Public policy-based objections to international class arbitration will likely reflect concerns about the propriety of representative actions, as outlined in the preceding section. Due process-based objections to international class arbitration will likely focus on the procedures adopted by the arbitrator.

Ontario Class Proceedings Act, 1992, SO, ch. 6 (1992); British Columbia Class Proceedings Act, R SBC, ch. 21 (1996); Saskatchewan Class Actions Act, SS 2001, ch. 12.01; Manitoba Class Proceedings Act, CCSM c. C130; Newfoundland and Labrador Class Actions Act, SN 2001 c. 18.1; Alberta Class Proceedings Act, SA 2003, c. G 16.5; Quebec Code of Civil Procedure, Art. 999-1051; Western Canadian Shopping Centres Inc v Dutton, (2001), 201 DLR (4th) 385, [2001] SCR 534.

Federal Court of Australia Act 1976, pt. IVA.

³⁸ English Civil Procedure Rules 19.6.

³⁹ English Civil Procedure Rules 19.10.

⁴⁰ Gidi, pp. 312-13 (discussing the Public Civil Action Act (1985) and Consumer Code).

⁴¹ See Valencia (Colombia) v Bancolombia (Colombia), 24 April 2003 – Arbitral Tribunal from the Bogotá Chamber of Commerce, digest by Eduardo Zuleta for Institute for Transnational Arbitration (ITA), available on kluwerarbitration.com (referencing legislation regarding class actions in Colombia).

Baumgartner 1, p. 332 (discussing the civil law *Verbandsklage* and the administrative law *Verbandsbeschwerde*).

⁴³ Stroh Container Co v Delphi Indus., Inc, 783 F.2d 743, 751 n.12 (8th Cir. 1986).

⁴⁴ Carbonneau, p. 1958.

Arguments have been made that class arbitrations improperly infringe upon the due process rights of unnamed, non-participating class members. 45 Certainly class arbitrations raise the same kinds of heightened due process concerns as class actions do. However, the issue is exacerbated in domestic arbitrations because arbitrators are not considered "state actors," which means that parties in arbitration are not entitled to the full panoply of constitutional due process protections. By agreeing to participate in an arbitration, parties are often considered to have waived some of their due process rights. 46 This does not appear to be a universal rule: for example, the Spanish Constitutional Court has held that certain fundamental rights – particularly the procedural right of defence – that are guaranteed by the constitution are inviolate, even in arbitration.⁴⁷ However, the "state actor" problem does not arise in international arbitration, because article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention explicitly protects certain key rights by allowing objections to enforcement based on violations of due process. The question, therefore, is how the special due process concerns associated with class arbitration measure up to the due process requirements protected under the New York Convention.

3.2. Procedures in Class Arbitration

3.2.1. Introduction

"No statute, state or federal, prescribes the rules or procedures for class arbitrations to ensure that the process is uniform, fair, or efficient. Moreover, whether any level of court involvement is required – or even permissible – is an open question."48 It is clear under US law that the arbitrator determines whether class arbitration is appropriate, as well as the proper procedure for a class arbitration, which suggests the courts either will not, need not or should not participate in the class arbitration proceedings, absent an invitation by the arbitrator.⁴⁹ Furthermore, international arbitrators have long held the power (and indeed, the duty) to establish the necessary procedures and determine any procedural issues. Typically, arbitrators respect party autonomy to the greatest degree possible, not only because arbitration is considered a contractual construct but also because enforcement of an international arbitral award may be denied if the procedure is not in accordance with the agreement of the parties.⁵⁰ Thus, an arbitrator may shape procedure however he or she wishes, subject only to permissible party autonomy and certain fundamental due process concerns, as explained further below.

When considering due process in class arbitration, two areas of inquiry arise: the extent to which the courts will be involved in the process and the shape of the process itself. Non-class arbitration considers the second question to some degree, since certain due process standards must be met even if the entire panoply of constitutional protections do not apply. However, the first question is unique to class arbitrations and relates to the court's possible role in protecting the rights of absent class members in class arbitrations.

In the twenty years of class arbitration prior to the Supreme Court's decision legitimizing class arbitration in Green Tree Financial Corp v Bazzle,51 at least two different models arose regarding the court's role in a class

⁴⁵ Weston, pp. 1719-20

Fuentes v Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 94-96 (1972); Jaksic, p. 165 (arguing that some fundamental procedural rights may not be waived); O'Hare, p. 185 (noting international arbitrations in Hong Kong are not entitled to the "whole panoply of constitutional due process requirements that govern domestic litigation"); Samuel, pp. 416-19, 426-47 (2004) (regarding application of article 6(1) of the European Convention on Human Rights); Tweeddale, pp. 67-68 (same). But see Choice v Option One Mortgage, No. Civ. A. 02-6626, 2003 WL 22097455, at *8 (E.D. Pa. 2003) (stating parties to arbitration do not necessarily consent to forgo due process rights - arbitration "merely provides an alternative forum for the adjudication of such rights.").

⁴⁷ Cairns, p. 593 (citing Sentencia Tribunal Constitucional de 15 de abril de 1986 (RTC 1986, 43)).

Green Tree Financial Corp v Bazzle, 539 U.S. 444, 453-54 (2003).

New York Convention, 330 U.N.T.S. 3., art. V(1)(d).

⁵³⁹ U.S. 444 (2003).

arbitration. First, some state courts – primarily California, Pennsylvania and, in at least one instance, South Carolina – promoted a hybrid method, wherein the court retained responsibility for certification, notice and fairness approvals of the final arbitral award, while the arbitrator retained responsibility for evaluating the merits of the case. ⁵² In this model, "courts remain[ed] involved in the class action-related aspects of the arbitration, to assure that due process protection of absent class members [was] provided." Courts adopting the hybrid approach seemed to take the view that class arbitration is qualitatively different than bilateral arbitration, at least with respect to due process, and that arbitrators were "ill-equipped to assure due process." ⁵⁴

However, "[t]he concept that the court is an effective watchdog overseeing due process under the hybrid model of class arbitration sounds nice; but it may be more a vestige of the historic mistrust of arbitration than practical reality."⁵⁵ Indeed, sceptics have argued that "[a] system that requires continuous judicial intervention, even for the well-intentioned purpose of providing due process, runs afoul of the parties' agreement and therefore violates" state arbitration statutes.⁵⁶ Hybrid models thus could lead to non-enforcement under the New York Convention to the extent they contravene the parties' agreed procedure.⁵⁷ Furthermore, the additional cost and delay associated with a back-and-forth system of split competence militates against the use of a hybrid model.

The second pre-*Bazzle* model of class arbitration was basically a "court-free" approach, wherein the arbitrator conducted all aspects of the proceedings, including certification, notice and fairness approvals.⁵⁸ The Supreme Court decision in *Bazzle* seems to contemplate the future use of the "court-free" method, although Maureen Weston has argued that "practical and policy concerns compel thought on the wisdom of entrusting arbitrators with protecting all class members, considering varying levels of arbitral expertise, a complicated procedural process, and the lack of judicial supervision or opportunity for meaningful appeal."⁵⁹

Thus, even prior to *Bazzle* there was no consensus on the procedure that must be adopted in a class arbitration. Since then, the issue of court involvement in class arbitration has shifted from a question to be decided by the courts to one to be decided by the parties as a result of the innovations of two US-based arbitration providers: the AAA and JAMS. Since *Bazzle* was handed down, both organizations have published class arbitration rules that address not only what procedures the arbitrators are to follow, but what involvement courts are to have in the process.

3.2.2. Class arbitration – institutional rules

Both the AAA and JAMS based their class arbitration rules on Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, leading at least one commentator to claim that the two rule sets "fail to engage with the possibilities of class arbitration" and take an "impoverished view" of the procedure by not taking advantage of the possibility of individually tailored procedures and remedies that are the hallmark of arbitration. ⁶⁰ However, because "[t]he scope of due process in class action litigation defines the possible scope of due process protection

⁵² See, e.g., Blue Cross of Cal. v Superior Court, 78 Cal. Rptr. 2d 779, 785 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998); Dickler v Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc, 596 A.2d 860, 8766 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1991); Bazzle v Green Tree Financial Corp, 569 S.E. 2d 349, 360-61 (S.C. 2002), vacated, 539 U.S. 444 (2003).

⁵³ Buckner 2, p. 226.

⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, p. 230.

⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, p. 238.

⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, p. 236.

⁵⁷ See New York Convention, 330 U.N.T.S. 3., art. V(1)(d).

⁵⁸ Green Tree Financial Corp v Bazzle, 569 S.E. 2d 349, 352-54 (S.C. 2002), *vacated*, 539 U.S. 444 (2003) (describing the process used in one of two class arbitrations at issue in the case).

⁵⁹ Weston, p. 1740.

⁶⁰ Weidemaier, pp. 94-95.

that arbitration providers should consider providing in class arbitration," the AAA and JAMS were well advised to base their procedures on the established rules of procedure, at least initially, to minimize any potential violations of critical due process protections. ⁶¹ Both sets of rules create a semi-hybrid approach to class arbitration, where "judicial involvement is subject to the discretion . . . of the parties." 62 Although neither the AAA nor JAMS claims to ensure that the constitutional or substantive rights of parties proceeding under their rules will be upheld, the AAA's policy statement on class arbitrations states that, "[i]n fidelity to [the AAA's] Due Process Protocols, the Association will continue to require all proceedings brought to it for administration to meet the standards of fairness and due process set forth in those protocols."63 The JAMS Class Arbitration Rules do not currently include a similar statement.

Rather than address the two rule sets in *toto*, the following discussion focuses on those aspects of the rules that could result in objections to international enforcement.

a. Certification of the class, class counsel and class representatives

In judicial class actions, the court's approval or denial of a request to certify a class under Rule 23(c)(1) is critical, since that decision often determines whether the litigation proceeds. Either way, the judge's decision imparts serious pressure – if certification is denied, plaintiffs may abandon their numerous, but individually small, claims; conversely, if certification is approved, the defendant(s) will be inclined to settle, no matter what the merits of the case may be, in order to avoid the heavy transactional costs of defending a class action.

Furthermore, when deciding to certify a class, the court must consider the adequacy of both class counsel and the lead (named) plaintiff(s). Indeed, adequacy of representation has been identified as "[t]he touchstone of due process in the class action setting."64 It has been termed thusly because absent class members remain in the class (and thus will be bound to the terms of the judgment of settlement) unless they opt out, so the court's determination about adequacy of representation (of both counsel and the lead plaintiff) "is a proxy for absent members' due process."65

Because certification of a judicial class is one of the areas where due process concerns are at their highest, it should come as no surprise that certification is a complex process under the AAA Supplementary Rules. AAA policy is to administer class arbitrations only when "the underlying agreement specifies that disputes arising out of the parties' agreement shall be resolved by arbitration in accordance with any of the Association's rules" or "the agreement is silent with respect to class claims, consolidation or joinder of claims." 66 Even so, there may be instances where one of the parties does not want to proceed with a class arbitration and would dispute certification of a class, regardless of the party's views on how well the class boundaries were drawn. The AAA Supplementary Rules address this issue by requiring arbitrators to determine "whether the applicable arbitration clause permits the arbitration to proceed on behalf of or against a class" and then issue a written "Clause Construction Award" which may be immediately brought to "a court of competent jurisdiction" to be confirmed or vacated.⁶⁷ Proceedings are automatically stayed 30 days to allow a court

⁶¹ Buckner 2, p. 195.

⁶² Ibid., pp. 239, 247.

See http://www.adr.org/Classarbitrationpolicy. The AAA has promulgated due process protocols in the area of health care, consumer disputes and employment. See http://www.adr.org/about (search "due process protocol").

Buckner 2, pp. 197-98.

⁶⁵ Weston, p. 1729.

See http://www.adr.org/Classarbitrationpolicy. The AAA will also administer a class arbitration upon court order, such as when a court has ruled a waiver provision invalid, Id.

AAA Supplementary Rules, rule 3.

action to be brought, unless the parties advise the arbitrator that they do not intend to seek judicial review. ⁶⁸ If court proceedings are initiated, the arbitrator may stay some or all of the arbitration, pending the outcome of the judicial action. ⁶⁹ This allows any arguments about contract construction to proceed before the parties and arbitrator have incurred the cost and effort involved in defining an appropriate class.

Once the initial threshold has been passed, the arbitrator considers whether class arbitration is proper under the circumstances of the case. Here, the drafters of the AAA Supplementary Rules copied the language of Rule 23(a) of the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure almost verbatim, with the exception of AAA Supplementary Rule 4(a)(6), which requires the arbitrator to find that "each class member has entered into an agreement containing an arbitration clause which is substantially similar" to that signed by other class members, including the class representative.

Once the arbitrator decides whether the arbitration should proceed as a class, the arbitrator issues the "Class Determination Award" as a "reasoned, partial final award."⁷⁰ If class arbitration is to proceed, the Class Determination Award "shall define the class, identify the class representative(s) and counsel, and shall set forth the class claims, issues, or defenses."⁷¹ The Class Determination Award also must include the proposed "Notice of Class Determination" and describe the mode of delivery to class members. Furthermore, the Class Determination Award describes "when and how members of the class may be excluded."⁷²

Regardless of whether the class is confirmed or denied, the Class Determination Award may be immediately brought to "a court of competent jurisdiction" to be confirmed or vacated.⁷³ Proceedings are automatically stayed 30 days to allow the court to hear the claim, unless the parties advise the arbitrator that they do not intend to seek judicial review. Again, if proceedings are brought, the arbitrator may stay the arbitration pending the court's decision. This approach echoes the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which explicitly provide for an interlocutory appeal of the class certification question, based on the recognition that (non)certification can sound the "death knell" of a cause of action.⁷⁴ Thus, the possibility of a "second look" on the propriety of the process and the decision exists in both a judicial class action and a class arbitration.

These procedures create a hybrid approach similar to that used prior to *Bazzle*, wherein the court retained responsibility for certification, notice and fairness approvals of the final award, while the arbitrator retained responsibility for evaluating the merits of the case. Although the AAA Supplementary Rules entitle the arbitrator to make the initial class determinations, allowing the parties to seek immediate judicial review of the partial final awards provides the court with some oversight capacity. Such a procedure might overcome the type of practical and policy concerns that an entirely court-free system might raise concerning the wisdom of entrusting arbitrators with protecting the due process rights of absent class members. However, foreign courts that are already suspicious of legal procedures that dispose of absent members' rights may exhibit heightened concern if courts may only become involved upon the request of a party, since nonnamed class members will not usually be sophisticated enough to take that step of their own accord.

Certification of a class is a multi-step process under the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules as well. The procedure is virtually identical to that under the AAA Supplementary Rules, except there is no requirement that any of the interim awards be issued, nor is there an explicit period for court review.⁷⁵ Thus, the JAMS Class

⁶⁸ *Ibid*.

⁶⁹ *Ibid.*, rule 4.

⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, rule 5.

⁷¹ *Ibid.*, rule 5(b).

⁷² *Ibid.*, rule 5(c).

⁷³ *Ibid.*, rule 5.

⁷⁴ Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e); Weston, p. 1730.

⁷⁵ JAMS Class Arbitration Rules, rules 2-4.

Arbitration Rules have created a very weak hybrid approach. Though parties can likely request written awards on which to base a court proceeding, the arbitrator holds a great deal of discretion concerning these partial final awards and could conceivably refuse the request. Thus, the JAMS model is closer to the type of court-free system that has raised concerns among commentators.

Because the AAA Supplementary Rules and JAMS Class Arbitration Rules track the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure so closely, they appear to uphold US notions of due process. Certainly the absence of any court involvement does not appear problematic in the US post-Bazzle. Nevertheless, the AAA Supplementary Rules has created a useful quasi-hybrid model that accomplishes two things at once. First, it creates a useful record and procedural guideline should court involvement be requested. Second, it minimizes the likelihood of challenge after the hearing, not only because the parties are given the opportunity to object as an interlocutory matter, but because any failure to object at an interim stage could be construed by an enforcing court as a waiver of that particular objection under the New York Convention after the completion of the proceedings.

b. Notice and settlements

Notice is a fundamental element of procedural due process in US class actions, with courts scrutinizing not only the content of the notice, but also the manner of notice.⁷⁶ Under actions certified under US Federal Rule 23(b)(3), parties must give the "best notice practicable, including individual notice to all members who can be identified through reasonable effort," whereas under Rule 23(b)(1) or (2), notice is simply permissive or discretionary, in that the court need only "direct appropriate notice to the class." Notice sent by firstclass mail to each putative class member, explaining the right to opt out of the litigation, satisfies due process concerns. Notice may be required at different times, such as prior to class certification and prior to settlement.

Although notice is not, by itself, enough to satisfy constitutional concerns, it is central to both domestic and international notions of due process in both litigation and arbitration. Under the AAA Supplementary Rules, the arbitrator shall "direct that class members be provided the best notice practicable under the circumstances."78 The notice regarding class determination "shall be given to all members who can be identified through reasonable effort."79 The notice must clearly state the nature of the action; the scope of the class; the class claims, issues, or defences; and various procedural factors, such as appearance through counsel, exclusion and the binding effect of the action; biographical information about class counsel and representatives; and how to communicate with the AAA regarding the arbitration.

Notice not only affects whether a putative class member knows that a class arbitration is proceeding, but also affects that person's ability to opt out (which affects future rights to initiate an individual claim) as well as the ability to participate in the class proceedings themselves. Thus, the notice requirement is closely linked to the opportunity to be heard. While issues regarding opting out and approval of class counsel and class representatives are not often discussed in the arbitral context, since they typically arise as a due process concern in judicial class actions, the international arbitral community has always been highly protective of a party's ability to participate in arbitration proceedings. Furthermore, the notice provisions protect the

See, e.g., Mullane v Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950).

Actions under Rule (b)(1) and (b)(2) generally do not involve a claim of damages (as actions under Rule 23(b)(3) do) and typically result in compulsory or mandatory class membership. Mulheron, p. 31.

AAA Supplementary Rules, rule 6(a).

Ibid., rule 5(a).

individual's ability to choose the arbitrator (though that choice in class arbitration would be limited to opting out), which is another right that has been closely guarded in international arbitration.

The AAA Supplementary Rules also require notice regarding settlement, voluntary dismissal or compromise. Again, the notice must "be provided in a reasonable manner to all class members who would be bound" by such a disposition. Notice at this stage also protects important due process rights, since, under the AAA Supplementary Rules, the arbitrator must hold a fairness hearing and can only approve the disposition of a matter "on finding that the settlement, voluntary dismissal, or compromise is fair, reasonable, and adequate." A class member may object to the proposed disposition and the arbitrator may refuse to approve the disposition of the matter unless it allows class members another opportunity to opt out.

Notice requirements under the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules are very similar to those under the AAA Supplementary Rules.⁸² Fairness hearings are also required under JAMS Class Arbitration Rule 6(a)(3).

Thus, to the extent that the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure protect due process, so, too, do the AAA Supplementary Rules and the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules, though the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules do so to a slightly lesser degree than the AAA Supplementary Rules, due to their failure to require reasoned partial awards during the clause construction and class certification phases. However, neither set of class arbitral rules creates procedures that necessarily address civil law concerns about representative actions, though actual notice – combined with a failure to opt out – could arguably be said to reflect a decision by an absent party to exercise his or her individual rights to sue at this time and in this way.

c. Confidentiality

The third area of concern involves confidentiality, one of the long-enunciated benefits of arbitration. However, AAA Supplementary Rule 9(a) explicitly states that class arbitrations shall not be subject to the principle of privacy and confidentiality, although the arbitrator can provide otherwise if he or she deems it appropriate. This shift from accepted norms may be due to concerns about due process. For example, if proceedings were private, some question might arise as to whether non-representative plaintiffs could attend hearings. The AAA Supplementary Rules avoid that problem by stating that "in no event shall class members, or their individual counsel, if any, be excluded from the arbitration hearings," thus protecting the individual right to be heard in an arbitration.⁸³ Furthermore, allowing open proceedings permits arbitrators to invite government entities and other potential objectors to any fairness hearings, which complies with the "best practices" in class actions advocated by the Federal Judicial Center.

In addition to reversing the presumption of confidentiality, the AAA Supplementary Rules indicate that the AAA shall maintain a website – similar to the online dockets of many courts⁸⁴ as well as the online list of pending and concluded cases maintained by the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes ("ICSID")⁸⁵ – containing certain information about the arbitration, including the demand for arbitration, the names of the parties and counsel, a list of the awards made to date and details regarding any scheduled hearings.⁸⁶

⁸⁰ *Ibid.*, rule 8(a)(2).

⁸¹ *Ibid.*, rule 8(a)(3).

⁸² IAMS Class Arbitration Rules, rule 4.

AAA Supplementary Rules, rule 9(a).

⁸⁴ See, e.g., http://pacer.psc.uscourts.gov/ (US federal courts); English Civil Procedure Rules 5.4C, 5.4D, Practice Direction 5. See also Öberg, passim.

Available at http://www.worldbank.org/icsid/cases/cases.htm.

⁸⁶ AAA Supplementary Rules, rule 9(b).

Notably, this is one area where JAMS and the AAA differ. The JAMS Class Arbitration Rules contain no language regarding any deviations from the usual presumption about privacy and confidentiality in arbitration, and JAMS does not provide an online docket of class arbitrations.

Although the AAA Supplementary Rules appear to protect certain due process rights by reversing the common assumption about confidentiality in arbitration, proceedings under these rules could be subject to objections under article V(1)(d) of the New York Convention if open proceedings appear to contravene the parties' agreement about the arbitral procedure. However, any such objection would likely lead to an analysis of the extent to which parties can deviate from explicit arbitral rules, which is beyond the scope of this Article. Furthermore, the arbitrator has the discretion to set aside this aspect of the AAA Supplementary Rules.

The JAMS Class Arbitration Rules appear to avoid this issue by remaining silent on the issue of confidentiality. However, the reverse problem may arise, wherein objectors and non-named parties could object if they are barred from the hearings.

4. Class Arbitration in the International Context

Objections to international enforcement of class awards are virtually assured given how US class actions are viewed abroad. For example, there is evidence that "foreign courts routinely refuse to enforce US judgments, particularly those arising from class litigation." 87 Indeed, practitioners from five European nations went on record with affidavits in Bersch v Drexel Firestone, Inc, stating that the courts of their country would not enforce a judgment in a class action suit.88 Since most class arbitrations will mimic US class actions, at least in the near future, class arbitral awards are likely to be subject to international challenges early on in their development. However, the case for international class arbitration may be assisted by the existence of domestic class arbitrations outside the United States.

4.1. Class Arbitrations Outside the United States

Though rare, there have been reports of class arbitrations outside the United States, albeit in the domestic rather than international realm. First, in Valencia v Bancolombia, a tribunal based in Bogotá, Colombia, heard a class suit initiated by shareholders following the merger of two financial entities.89 Although the claim was initially filed in court, both the civil circuit judge and the District Superior Court held that they had no jurisdiction over the matter, given the existence of an arbitration agreement in the by-laws of one of the financial entities. The plaintiffs argued that class actions in Colombia are subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the court, but the Supreme Court of Justice rejected that argument on the grounds that the arbitration agreement did not limit the types of claims that could be submitted to arbitration and thus did not exclude class arbitrations as a matter of law. Furthermore, the Supreme Court held that arbitrators have the same duties and powers as a court and thus have the competence to resolve class claims.

The Supreme Court did not go so far as to say that class arbitrations are permitted in Colombia in all circumstances, however. Instead, it stated that:

Buschkin, p. 1566.

⁸⁸ 519 F.2d 974, 996 (2d Cir. 1975).

Valencia (Colombia) v Bancolombia (Colombia), 24 April 2003 – Arbitral Tribunal from the Bogotá Chamber of Commerce, digest by Eduardo Zuleta for Institute for Transnational Arbitration (ITA), available on kluwerarbitration.com.

Arbitral Tribunals have no jurisdiction in principle to rule upon class actions, since the pertinent decision would involve or affect every individual that finds himself/herself under the same causal link which caused individual damages. . . . However, a different conclusion may arise regarding the shareholders of a Corporation, since these have accepted the inclusion of an arbitration agreement in the bylaws. 90

The matter was then sent to arbitration so that the tribunal could decide whether the plaintiffs met the threshold requirements (twenty or more people who have suffered damages out of the same cause of action) to proceed as a class. Given the ruling by the Supreme Court, the broad availability of class arbitrations in Colombia appears uncertain, though class proceedings apparently can arise in shareholder actions where arbitration of disputes is contemplated. Furthermore, the decision seems to confirm the civil law suspicion of representative actions that would affect the rights of absent class members except in special cases.

Class arbitrations have also arisen in Canada. *Kanitz v Rogers Cable Inc* involved the interplay between the Ontario Arbitration Act and the Ontario Class Proceedings Act, and arose after the plaintiffs filed a class action in court for breach of contract arising out of the provision of cable and high speed internet services. ⁹¹ In this case, the Ontario Superior Court of Justice had to construe a clause providing for arbitration and forbidding class proceedings in light of a claim of unconscionability. The court considered the argument that, if such a clause were upheld, individual plaintiffs would be dissuaded from proceeding in arbitration due to the expense in relation to the prospective award, but found the argument unpersuasive given the lack of evidence showing that plaintiffs had, in fact, been dissuaded from proceeding individually in arbitration. The court was also unpersuaded by the argument that plaintiffs would be more likely to proceed as a class, since, by so doing, they would be protected from adverse costs awards in the case of loss. Furthermore, the plaintiffs claimed that giving effect to the arbitration/no class action clause would defeat the public policies inherent in the Class Proceedings Act. Again, the court found this position not compelling.

Instead, the court focused on the mutuality of the arbitration agreement to hold that there was no unconscionability. Furthermore, the court stated that although the Arbitration Act and the Class Proceedings Act could be said to have competing public policies, there was no reason to give precedence to one piece of legislation over the other. Instead, the court claimed that it was possible to interpret both enactments in a consistent manner by disallowing the class action in court and instead requiring individual arbitrations. However, a type of class arbitration could be permitted under the consolidation provisions contained in section 20(1) of the Arbitration Act. In particular, the court stated:

Without deciding the point, it would appear that section 20(1) would permit an arbitrator, at the very least, to consolidate a number of arbitrations which raise the same issue. Therefore, it appears at least arguable that if each of the five named representative plaintiffs here chose to seek arbitrations of their claims, an arbitrator might well decide that those arbitrations could be dealt with together thereby saving time and expense for all parties. Such possibilities serve to militate against the central assertion of the plaintiffs that the arbitration clause operates so as to erect an economic wall barring customers of the defendant from effectively seeking relief.⁹²

Thus, class arbitrations have not yet reached full maturity in Ontario, but an intermediary step – mass consolidations – appears to have arisen.

However, other provinces in Canada appear open to the concept of class arbitration. For example, the Quebec Court of Appeal noted in *Dell Computer Corp v Union des consommateurs* that, although arbitration was improper in this instance (since the arbitration clause had not been properly brought to the consumers'

⁹⁰ Id. (translating and quoting Supreme Court Ruling of May 11, 2001 (Jaramillo, J.)).

⁹¹ Kanitz (Canada) v Rogers Cable Inc (Canada), 22 April 2002, Ontario Superior Court of Justice, digest by Henri Alvarez for Institute for Transnational Arbitration (ITA), available on kluwerarbitration.com.

⁹² *Id.* ¶ 55

attention), consumer protection claims could, under some circumstances, be arbitrated.⁹³ Since that case involved a class action, it would appear that the court was leaving the door open for a class arbitration.

Despite the pro-class arbitration stance of these jurisdictions, there are other indications that some states or arbitrators believe representative actions are improper in international arbitration. For example, a number of claimants came to the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal in 2003 seeking to bring an action "on [their] own behalf and by proxy and representation on behalf of all Iranian citizens."94 However, the rules of the Tribunal require claimants to "own" their claims, which means that any representative action must fail, since the party bringing it does not have the requisite degree of ownership. As the Tribunal stated, "[b]ecause ownership of a claim is a sine qua non of a party's standing in a private claim, and because the Claimants have not pleaded such injury or ownership . . . they have no standing to bring this Claim."95 Since group actions are not permitted under the Claims Settlement Declaration or tribunal precedent, class arbitrations would appear to be barred in any action in front of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. This would also appear to be the case in other disputes brought pursuant to specialized arbitral rules or instruments.⁹⁶

4.2. International Enforcement of Class Arbitral Awards

Obtaining an enforceable award is the ultimate goal of arbitration. Nevertheless, parties to class arbitrations will likely find enforcement under the New York Convention problematic on two grounds: due process and public policy.

4.2.1. Due Process Under the New York Convention

When considering international class awards, one must consider not only the usual notions of international due process, but also the procedures that are required to assure due process in a representative proceeding. Due process in the context of representative proceedings has been said to be a "flexible concept," though it:

requires 'fundamental fairness.' Courts have construed this provision to require that an individual be given notice and an opportunity for a hearing prior to any deprivation of life, liberty, or property interest. Notice is a fundamental component of due process. In the judicial class action context, due process is the source for many requirements including the right of class members to opt out of the proceedings, the adequacy of representation, judicial oversight, and case disposition fairness approval.97

Due process in the context of the New York Convention is also an inherently difficult concept to define, and "[w]hat constitutes due process is not uniform across all the Contracting States."98 The possibility of

Dell Computer Corp (not indicated) v Union des consommateurs (Canada), 30 May 2005, Quebec Court of Appeal, digest by Henri Alvarez for Institute for Transnational Arbitration (ITA), available on kluwerarbitration.com, reversed, 2007 S.C.C. 34 (without discussion of the class arbitration points).

Sheibani v United States, Chamber One Decision No. DEC 131-946-1 of 11 June 2003 in Case No. 946, ¶ 2, Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Selected Awards, available on Kluwer Law International.

See, e.g., Spence, p. 316 (describing arbitrations under various international instruments and involving the Bank for International Settlements, and noting that the tribunal formed to resolve those disputes indicated that the instruments "did not contemplate class action proceedings nor allow[ed] it to certify

Weston, pp. 1768-69 (citing Cafeteria & Rest. Workers Union, Local 473 v McElroy, 367 U.S. 886, 895 (1961) and Lassiter v Dep't of Soc. Servs., 452 U.S. 18, 24-25 (1981)). See also Reuben, p. 1038 (citing Goldberg v Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 268-71 (1970), as enunciating the relevant due process concerns, including the right to notice, the opportunity to be heard, the right to present evidence, the right to retain counsel, the right to a reasoned, written decision and the right to an impartial decision maker).

Harris, pp. 11, 16.

variations in the concepts of due process may have "significant consequences for arbitrations which are conducted in forums where the notions of due process differ substantially" from those of other nations.⁹⁹

Nevertheless, when considering whether to recognize a foreign arbitral award under the New York Convention, the court must:

determine whether the parties received the process for which they bargained. For international cases, this implicates a number of special questions. Was there an arbitration agreement? Were the arbitrators honest? Did the loser have the opportunity to present its case? Does the award violate some fundamental public policy?¹⁰⁰

A court's duty to recognize and enforce foreign awards under the New York Convention is subject to the possible objections set forth in article V. "Article V provides the exclusive procedural and substantive grounds for challenging the enforcement of an award." ¹⁰¹ "[T]hese protections against abusive arbitration allow courts to avoid lending their power to support proceedings that lack integrity or awards inimical to basic public interests." ¹⁰² The protections found in article V(1) "safeguard the parties against private injustice," whereas those found in article V(2) "serve[] as an explicit catchall for the enforcement of a country's own vital interests." ¹⁰³ The procedural bases for objection found in article V(1) may be raised by the parties, while the substantive bases for objection in article V(2) may be raised by the parties or by the court *ex officio*. ¹⁰⁴ "All grounds for refusal of enforcement must be construed *narrowly*; they are exceptions to the general rule that foreign awards must be recognised and enforced. The Convention sets *maximum* standards so that Contracting States cannot adopt legislation which adds grounds for resisting recognition and enforcement." ¹⁰⁵

Due process "is often understood as a 'hard' rule of law, a kind of core or foundation of all other procedural rules, the violation or disregard of which will lead to unenforceability of the award or decision given." ¹⁰⁶ At the very centre of due process issues, "the rules cannot be contracted out and they may be applied *ex officio*. In many national laws this core is described as *ordre public* or public policy." ¹⁰⁷ As Gabrielle Kaufmann-Kohler states:

The term 'due process' here refers to a number of notions with varying names under different national laws, including natural justice, procedural fairness, the right or opportunity to be heard, the so-called *principle de la contradiction* and equal treatment. More recently, procedural efficiency has been increasingly advocated by scholarly writers and taken into account in practice by arbitral tribunals and courts. However, it has not achieved the same recognition as [due process and the principle of party autonomy in matters of procedure].¹⁰⁸

Even within the realm of due process concerns, there appear to be "a hierarchy and various degrees of legal strength and significance," based, apparently, on "how fundamental the rule of due process is considered to be and how serious its violation or disregard is deemed to be." Nevertheless, at a minimum, due process requires "that parties be provided with (1) reasonable notice and (2) an opportunity to be heard,"

```
    99 O'Hare, p. 184.
    100 Park & Yanos, pp. 273-74.
    101 Harris, p. 10.
    102 Park & Yanos, p. 258.
    103 Ibid., p. 259.
    104 Harris, p. 10.
    105 Lew, et al., ¶ 26-66.
    106 Kurkela & Snellman, p. 1.
    107 Ibid. pp. 1-2.
    108 Kaufmann-Kohler, p. 1321.
```

109 Kurkela & Snellman, p. 5 (italics omitted).

two concepts that are echoed explicitly in article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention. 110 Together, these principles form a "so-called due process defense [that] has been interpreted to 'essentially sanction[] the application of the forum state's standards of due process," where the "forum" in question is typically the seat of arbitration.¹¹¹ Some have asked whether "the tribunal has to take into account the laws of all the possible places of enforcement," but typically "[t]he answer is 'no,'" since the arbitrator may not be in the position to know where enforcement will be sought.¹¹² Julian Lew summarises the various possibilities, stating:

observance of standards set by the law chosen by the parties to govern the arbitration, or alternatively by the law at the place of arbitration, would suffice. However the view that Article 1(b) is a genuinely international rule is also convincing. Ultimately the question of violation of due process is a matter of fact which the parties will have to prove.113

The fact that the propriety of due process is most likely evaluated in light of the due process standards of the state where the arbitration was seated is encouraging to supporters of class arbitration, at least to the extent that most class arbitrations are currently seated in the United States. As discussed above, US courts will likely find the types of due process protections contained in the AAA Supplementary Rules and, to a potentially lesser extent, the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules to comply with US notions of due process. Therefore, class arbitrations seated in the US are likely to be internationally enforceable as a matter of due process, at least on first blush. However, each of the two core due process principles need to be discussed in more detail.

a. Lack of proper notice

Article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention indicates that "[r]ecognition and enforcement of the award may be refused" on proof that "[t]he party against whom the award is invoked was not given proper notice of the arbitrator or of the arbitration proceedings." The term "proper notice" in international arbitration means that:

a party must be informed about the initiation of the proceedings in order to give him an opportunity to organize his defence and other action. . . . Whether the notice is "proper" must be assessed on the basis of the arbitration agreement and other applicable procedural rules including the law of the seat of arbitration. If what constitutes proper notice is not well defined by the rules or law referred to in the arbitration agreement, the issue may become problematic as to the choice of applicable procedural rules. Proper notice is required in order to allow a party to "present his case." Thus the proper notice requirement is part of "presenting one's case," a condition precedent required absolutely to constitute due process and to make the rendering of an enforceable award possible. In the absence of other more specific rules, proper notice must at the minimum contain information that legal proceedings are pending, the reference to the grounds for the jurisdiction and the identity of the parties.¹¹⁴

The question, therefore, is whether JAMS's and the AAA's "best notice practicable" constitutes "proper notice." "Proper notice" has been construed as "notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections . . . and it must afford a reasonable time for those interested in make their appearance."115 Thus, the two standards appear consistent. Furthermore, both the AAA and JAMS contemplate notice to putative class members who can be "identified through reasonable means," which would correlate with the totalityof-the-circumstances approach of the New York Convention.

¹¹⁰ Weston, pp. 1768-69.

¹¹¹ Inoue, p. 247.

¹¹² Platte, p. 312.

¹¹³ Lew, et al., ¶26-81.

 $^{^{114}~~{\}rm Kurkela~\&~Snellman,~pp.~17-18}$ (italics omitted).

Guang Dong Light Headgear Factory Co, Ltd (China) v ACI Int'l, Inc (US), reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 31 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 1105, 1118 (2005).

Additionally, the magnitude and efficacy of the potential notice efforts will be taken into account in enforcement proceedings under the New York Convention, which should assist claimants in class arbitration. For example, in Employers Ins. of Wausau v Banco de Seguros del Estado, the Seventh Circuit noted in the context of an arbitration instituted against more than 100 underwriters at Lloyd's that "[n]o reasonable person could be expected to serve more than 100 copies (that is, one copy for each retrocessionaire) of the same motion" on the registered agent for service of process and the Commissioner of Insurance.¹¹⁶

As stated above, sufficiency of notice typically is to be determined by the law of the arbitral forum or the procedural law of the arbitration, supplemented by any relevant institutional rules. However, in some cases notice is evaluated under the standards of the enforcing state, albeit not with detailed reference to the rules and procedures applicable to court proceedings. For example, in Seller (Russian Federation) v Buyer (Germany), the Court of Appeal of Bavaria relied on article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention when refusing to enforce a Russian arbitral award.¹¹⁷ Under Russian law, dispatch of notice constituted due process, even if the respondent did not actually receive that notice. However, because "the legal fiction of receipt is not sufficient for valid notice" under German law, the Bavarian Court of Appeal refused enforcement. 118 Although this case and others like it appear to be decided on the basis of article V(1)(b) alone, they seem to implicitly invoke the public policy exception under article V(2)(b) as well, which would explain the references to German standards regarding proper notice (as discussed below, objections based on article V(2)(b) of the New York Convention are analyzed under the law of the enforcing state). This conclusion is supported by cases that have indicated that the violation of the right to a fair arbitral procedure – which would, by necessity, require proper notice – can constitute a violation of German public order. 119 Other nations have also viewed notice issues through the lens of their own particular constitutional norms, again possibly because of the public policy implications. 120 Indeed, commentators have explicitly recognized that there is overlap between violation of due process guarantees of article V(1)(b) and the public policy provisions of article V(2)(b).¹²¹ Thus, a party contesting notice will likely attempt to rely on both the standards of the forum state (via article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention) and the enforcing state (via article V(2)(b)).

When parties to class arbitrations attempt to enforce their awards, they must remember that "proper notice" is a factual determination involving an investigation into the circumstance of the case rather than the strict application of periods that may be specified in, for example, court rules.¹²² Furthermore, the form and content of the notice is as important as the giving of notice itself. However, the due process review only seems to apply to significant violations; minor variations in procedure can easily be dictated by the parties.

The propriety of notice in class arbitration will doubtless be affected by what is considered proper notice in judicial class or representative actions. Thus, to create an internationally enforceable class award, the arbitrator should comply to the greatest degree possible with the notice provisions of the state in which the

 $^{^{116} \}quad 199 \; \text{E3d } 937, 945 \; (7^{\text{th}} \; \text{Cir. } 1999) \; (construing \; \text{the Panama Convention but noting similarities to the New York Convention)}.$

CLOUT Case 402: Bayerisches Oberstes Landesgericht, reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 27 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 445 (2002) and 263 (2002). For a similar outcome under US law, see Jiangsu Changlong Chem. Co, Inc v Burlington Bio-Med. & Sci. Corp, 399 ESupp. 2d 165, 168 (E.D.N.Y. 2005) (noting successful reliance on article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention "requires a showing that the arbitration was conducted in violation of this country's standards of due process of law").

CLOUT Case 402, p. 264.

Buyer (Danish) v Seller (German), reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 4 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 258 (1979) (dealing with failure to give notice of the name of the arbitrator and noting that, "As the right of the parties to challenge has a fundamental meaning for a fair arbitral procedure, the exclusion of this right constitutes a violation of the German public order").

See, e.g., Unión de Cooperatives Agrícolas Epis-Centre (France) v La Palentina SA (Spain), reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 27 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 533, 538-39 (2002) (noting procedural safeguards must be examined "in accordance with the criteria established by the [Spanish] Constitutional Court, which is the highest interpreter of the fundamental provisions in whose principles, rights and liberties international public policy is embodied"); Italian Party v Swiss Company, reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 29 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 819, 829 (2004) ("Denial of due process is in principle a violation of procedural public policy."); Guang Dong Light Headgear Factory Co, Ltd (China) v ACI Int'l, Inc (US), reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 31 YEARBOOK COMMERCIAL ARBITRATION 1105 (2005).

Harris, pp. 10, 17. See supra notes 105-06 and accompanying text.

Abati Legnami (Italy) v Fritz Häpl (not indicated), Corte di Cassazione [Italian Supreme Court], 3 April 1987, reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 17 YEARBOOK Commercial Arbitration 529 (1993).

arbitration is seated or the procedural law that otherwise controls. While it can be useful to consider also the notice provisions of the enforcing state – since lack of notice can sometimes rise to the level of a public policy concern – it is not required. Class arbitrations that follow the AAA Supplementary Rules and JAMS Class Arbitration Rules will typically comply with US notions of due process. Thus, class arbitrations that follow one of these rule sets and are seated in the US should avoid most objections based on problems regarding notice. Furthermore, US notions of notice in class proceedings compare favourably with notions of notice in other states' representative proceedings, 123 suggesting that compliance with the AAA Supplementary Rules or JAMS Class Arbitration Rules will meet due process standards for class arbitrations seated in common law countries. However, civil law concerns about representative actions may mean that actual notice - as opposed to JAMS's and the AAA's "best notice practicable" - is required to bind non-representative class members in civil law states. This difference in approach is not based on the language of the New York Convention – since article V(1)(b) only requires "proper notice" – but on civil law systems' anticipated public policy concerns. Though cases and commentary concerning notice requirements under article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention indicate that compliance with the notice provisions of the applicable procedural rules (such as the AAA Supplementary Rules or the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules) would be enough to make an award enforceable, the fact that a notice/due process issue can result in a public policy violation under article V(b)(2) of the New York Convention suggests that parties would be well advised to consider also the notice requirements in any possible enforcing states.

b. Inability to present one's case

Notice is not the only due process concern implicated by the international enforcement of a class award. Article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention also indicates that "[r]ecognition and enforcement of the award may be refused" on proof that "[t]he party against whom the award is invoked was . . . otherwise unable to present his case." To some, "[t]he ability to present one's case appears to be the most fundamental due process rule."124 Some national laws require a "full opportunity" to present one's case, whereas others only require a "reasonable opportunity" to do so.125

Interestingly, "if a party has been denied his right to retain legal counsel of his choice to represent him, this may constitute 'unability' under the Convention." 126 This is of course problematic in a situation where absent class arbitration members are given little opportunity to "shop around" for class counsel. However, the AAA Supplementary Rules expressly contemplate the possibility of non-named parties having their own counsel.127

The primary problem for class arbitration, of course, is that non-representative parties have very few real opportunities to influence the shape of the case. However, the AAA Supplementary Rules do provide that all parties, including non-representatives and their counsel, have the right to be present at the hearing, which attempts to alleviate this concern. 128 Furthermore, the arbitrator's duty to undertake a fairness hearing upon disposition of the claim under both the AAA Supplementary Rules and the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules would suggest that absent class members' concerns are not disposed of without independent and objective analysis.129

 $^{^{123}}$ $\,$ See Mulheron, pp. 344-52 (comparing class notice provisions in the US, Canada and Australia).

 $^{^{124}~}$ Kurkela & Snellman, p. 18 (italics omitted).

¹²⁵ Lew, et al., ¶ 26-87.

¹²⁶ Kurkela & Snellman, p. 17.

 $^{^{127}\;}$ AAA Supplementary Rules, rule 9(a).

 $^{^{128}\,\,}$ Ibid. The JAMS Class Arbitration Rules are silent on this point.

¹²⁹ Ibid., rule 8(a)(3); JAMS Class Arbitration Rules, rule 6(3).

Since the AAA and JAMS both modelled their rules on the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, arbitrations seated in the United States should pass scrutiny so long as the enforcing state does not consider the nature of representative actions to be a fundamental violation of the right to be heard such that it rises to the level of a public policy concern, thus shifting the focus from the standards of the arbitral forum to the standards of the enforcing state. Arbitrations seated outside the US will likely stand or fall depending on the extent to which the jurisdiction permits representative actions in the national courts. Nevertheless, a class arbitration seated in an otherwise hostile jurisdiction might be permissible if parties can successfully argue (1) the primacy of the selected arbitral rules (in this case, the AAA Supplementary Rules or JAMS Class Arbitration Rules) over national provisions of procedural law and/or (2) waiver of a timely objection (if a motion to set aside is made after the conclusion of the hearing rather than after the issuance of one of the partial final orders concerning clause construction or class certification). The issues involving the opportunity to present one's case in a class proceeding have not yet been discussed in the international sphere, so it will be interesting to see how the principle develops.

4.2.2. Public Policy Under the New York Convention

The second major area of concern for those who wish to enforce class awards under the New York Convention is the public policy exception in article V(2)(b). As suggested above, representative or collective actions are not well received in many legal systems, and many nations have refused to adopt representative procedures into their national systems and/or enforce US judgments arising out of a class proceeding, suggesting that there could be some hostility to the enforcement of international class awards.

However, even states with a longstanding opposition to representative actions in the courts may enforce class awards nonetheless because arbitration is a mechanism that welcomes flexibility, informality and innovation. Furthermore, states might be willing to enforce class arbitral awards because it can be said that absent class members have affirmatively chosen to exercise their individual rights at this time and in this way, thus overriding the civil law concern about forcing absent members to relinquish control over valid causes of action. This choice is demonstrated either through the initial agreement to arbitrate (since that agreement can be construed to bind the signatories to whatever procedure the arbitrator deems proper in his or her discretion) or through absent class members' failure to opt out of the proceedings.

Article V(2)(b) of the New York Convention indicates that "[r]ecognition and enforcement of the award may . . . be refused if the competent authority in the country where recognition and enforcement is sought finds that . . . [t]he recognition or enforcement of the award would be contrary to the public policy of that country."¹³⁰ Public policy concerns may be raised by the parties or by the court *ex officio*. "Public policy" is not defined in the New York Convention, but the underlying rationale of this objection is "the right of the State and its courts to exercise ultimate control over the arbitral process."¹³¹ Although there is some variation in the definition of public policy, "[i]t appears that there is one universally accepted definition of public policy. 'It is clear that [it] reflects the fundamental economic, legal, moral, political, religious and social standards of every state or extra-national community.'"¹³²

Article V(2)(b) of the New York Convention indicates that the only relevant public policy is that of the state where enforcement is to take place. Foreign public policy is not typically considered in enforcement proceedings, "notwithstanding the fact that private international lawyers increasingly discuss the issue of

 $^{^{130}~}$ New York Convention, 330 U.N.T.S. 3, art. V(2)(b).

 $^{131 \}quad \text{Lew, et al., } \P \ 26-114 \ (\text{quoting } \textit{Parsons and Whittemore Overseas Co, Inc v Sociét\'e g\'en\'erale de l'industrie du papier (RAKTA), 508 \ E2d \ 969, 975 \ (2d \ Cir. \ 1974)).}$

¹³² Kurkela & Snellman, p. 11.

application (or taking into account) of foreign public policy in a favourable manner" in other contexts. Dijections based on public policy may be procedural (primarily involving due process issues) or substantive. Each will be discussed separately.

a. Procedural public policy

Iulian Lew has written that:

possible procedural public policy grounds include fraud in the composition of the tribunal; breach of natural justice; lack of impartiality; lack of reasons in the award; manifest disregard of the law; manifest disregard of the facts; annulment at place of arbitration.¹³⁴

This is generally in accordance with other views, although the International Law Association's Final Report on Public Policy as a Bar to Enforcement of International Arbitral Awards ("ILA Final Report"), issued in 2002, indicates that "[i]t is widely accepted that procedural public policy should not include manifest disregard of the law or the facts."¹³⁵ The ILA Final Report also states that procedural public grounds "overlap with the requirements of due process, prescribed in Article V.1(b) of the New York Convention."¹³⁶

Regardless of whether they are substantive or procedural, public policy objections under the New York Convention must be construed narrowly. Critically, "only violations of the enforcement state's public policy with respect to international relations (international public policy or *ordre public international*) is a valid defense."¹³⁷ Domestic public policy concerns are not enough to bar enforcement. An interesting – and apparently open – question is "whether the existence of a large number of procedural defects constitutes a violation of due process or the principles of public policy."¹³⁸

The form and scope of any court review is limited. Commentators and courts are "unanimous" on this point, stating:

the national judge excludes review of the substance of the arbitration decision. It must relate not to the *evaluation* made by the arbitrators of the rights of the parties, but rather to the *solution* given to the dispute, with the award being annulled only insofar as this solution runs counter to public policy.¹³⁹

As encouraging as this position is generally as a principle supportive of arbitration, class arbitration would appear to be reviewable as a "solution given to the dispute" rather than the "evaluation made by the arbitrators of the rights of the parties." However, the distinction can be argued either way.

Only rarely have awards been successfully opposed at the enforcement stage as a result of a violation of international public policy. For example, England did not refuse enforcement of an arbitral award on the grounds of public policy until 1998. Korea and Switzerland both use a narrow interpretation of public policy, but retain some focus on the interests and beliefs of the enforcing state. In the United States, the

 $^{^{133}}$ Mistelis 2, p. 253.

¹³⁴ Lew, et al., ¶ 26-117.

¹³⁵ ILA Final Report, ¶ 29. The ILA Final Report was issued in 2002 at the New Delhi conference, following an Interim Report issued in July 2000. The two reports are to be read together.

¹³⁶ *Ibid*.

 $^{^{137}\,}$ Lew, et al., § 26-114.

¹³⁸ С (not indicated) v Z (not indicated), reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 31 Yearbook Commercial Arbitration 583, 585 (2006) (decision of the Supreme Court of Austria, noting the argument had not been made out factually under the circumstances).

Brulard & Quintin, p. 544 (emphasis added) (quoting Judgment of the French Cour de Cassation, Applix, Paris, Oct. 14, 1993, Rev. Arb. 1994).

 $^{^{140}~}$ Soleimany v Soleimany [1998] QB 785 (involving an illegal contract to smuggle).

 $^{^{141}}$ Lew, et al., $\P\P$ 26-127 to 26-129 (citing cases).

prevailing pro-arbitration policy also results in few challenges succeeding on the basis of the public policy exception. Other jurisdictions that have reportedly taken a narrow view of the public policy exception include Germany, Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Switzerland, Russia, Italy and India. However, some states – including Turkey, Japan, Vietnam and China – have been criticized for their broad use of the public policy exception.

When deciding whether the New York Convention's public policy exception to enforcement applies, courts look to their own law—i.e., the law of the enforcing state. Traditionally, the only time the public policy of the *lex arbitri* would be considered is when a party has brought a motion to vacate or set aside the arbitral award, since motions to set aside or vacate an arbitral award are typically made in the state where the arbitration was seated. However, the same narrow international standard should apply in both circumstances according to the ILA Final Report, which claims that "[t]he same test should apply to all international arbitral awards, irrespective of whether the award is made in the same jurisdiction as the enforcement court (and enforceable pursuant to domestic legislation) or made abroad and enforceable pursuant to the New York or other Conventions." **Id-1**

The question exists whether there can be any procedural errors that rise to the level of a public policy violation under article V(2) of the New York Convention that are not covered by the grounds for objection under article V(1). Certainly "if the form and the underlying process by which an arbitral award was created do not meet all potentially applicable domestic procedural requirements, there will be confusion over where and to what extent the award will be enforceable, particularly if it involves transnational commerce," but that does not answer the deeper question of what procedural public policy concerns might exist other than those enumerated in article V(1) of the New York Convention. However, commentators have typically taken the procedural objections outlined in article V(1) as conclusively defining the corpus of international procedural public policy, or – even more generally – have defined international procedural public policy as simply constituting equal treatment, fair notice and the right to present one's case. However,

Objections to class awards based on procedural public policy will likely mirror those made under article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention, although, to be considered legitimate grounds for non-enforcement by the international arbitral community, they must rise to the level of a gross violation of due process, judged by international, rather than domestic, standards. Although there should be few such rulings in theory, courts have been willing to invoke their own due process standards in practice. ¹⁵⁰

b. Substantive public policy

Objections to enforcement of a foreign arbitral award may also be based on substantive public policy concerns such as "mandatory rules/ *lois de police*; fundamental principles of law; actions contrary to good morals, and national interests/foreign relations." ¹⁵¹ Substantive objections may also be made based on violations of the

 $^{^{142}\ \} Parsons\,Whittemore\,Overseas\,Co\,Inc\,v\,Soci\'et\'e\,G\'en\'erale\,de\,l'Industrie\,du\,Papier\,(RAKTA),\,508\,F.2d\,969\,(2nd\,Cir.\,1974).$

¹⁴³ Harris, pp. 14-15.

 $^{^{144}~}$ Redfern & Hunter, ¶ 10-54.

 $^{^{145}~}$ New York Convention, 330 U.N.T.S. 3., art. V(2)(b).

¹⁴⁶ See, e.g., UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration, U.N. Doc. A/40/17, annex I, and A/61/17, annex I (21 June 1985, amended 7 July 2006), art. 34.

 $^{^{147}~}$ ILA Final Report, § 8.

¹⁴⁸ Schwebel & Lahne, p. 206.

¹⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, p. 216.

See, e.g., Seller (Russian Federation) v Buyer (Germany), CLOUT Case 402: Bayerisches Oberstes Landesgericht, reprinted in Kluwer Law Int'l, 27 YEARBOOK COMMERCIAL ARBITRATION 445 (2002) and 263 (2002).

¹⁵¹ ILA Final Report, ¶ 6-7.

principle of good faith and *pacta sunt servanda*, prohibition of abuse of rights and prohibition of activities that are *contra bonos mores*, ¹⁵² as well as awards involving punitive damages and breaches of competition law. ¹⁵³ Some commentators distinguish mandatory provisions of law from public policy, even though that may be difficult to do as a practical matter. ¹⁵⁴

Interpretation of substantive public policy is the same as with procedural public policy, in that objections under the New York Convention must be construed narrowly, applying international rather than domestic standards. Though objections based on substantive public policy are, like objections based on procedural public policy, viewed from the perspective of the enforcing state, some question has arisen as to whether the public policy of other potentially interested states can or should be taken into account. The issue arises most often in the context of competition law or similar laws with a particular economic purpose. The question in the context of class arbitrations will likely be whether class arbitration impedes or advances laws intended to "protect parties presumed to be in an inferior bargaining position, such as wage-earners or commercial agents" as well as consumers or shareholders.

Interestingly, this has been one of the areas where civil law systems seem inclined to permit representative actions, albeit usually as a result of legislative authority. Although some states might wish to keep these sorts of economic concerns in the public realm, it could be said that recognizing a form of representative action opens the door to class arbitration in these areas of law. The Certainly precedent suggests that matters involving substantive public policy may properly be resolved in the arbitral realm. For example, in *Mitsubishi Motors Corp v Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc*, the US Supreme Court indicated that arbitrators had the right and the ability to consider matters that had a significant impact on American public policy – in this case, US antitrust laws. However, the European Court of Justice ("ECJ") came to a slightly different conclusion in *Eco Swiss China Time Ltd v Benetton Int'l NV*, which involved a preliminary question issued by the Dutch Supreme Court as to whether an arbitrator had to apply European competition law to a dispute, particularly in instances where the European principles conflicted with national provisions of law. The ECJ held that arbitrators must take European Community law, including public policies regarding anticompetitive behaviour, into account when deciding a case, even if they must do so *ex officio*. However, the *Eco Swiss* case involved a choice of Dutch law; the question remains open about the extent of:

the arbitrator's duty to apply Community public policy rules *ex officio* when the contract is not governed by the law of a Member state. . . . Those authors who consider that the arbitrator must respect the will of the parties insist that the parties' freedom to choose the law of the contract must prevail, as the arbitrator's role is not to defend the public interest but, rather the interests of the litigants. Other authors draw a different conclusion: an arbitration clause that sets aside the application of Community competition law can be nullified and the agreement containing such a clause can itself be void if the avoidance of Community competition law was a determining factor of the consent of the parties.¹⁶¹

However:

¹⁵² *Ibid.*, ¶ 28.

¹⁵³ Lew, et al., ¶ 26-118.

¹⁵⁴ Kurkela & Snellman, p. 11; Böcksteigel, p. 183.

 $^{^{155}~}$ ILM Interim Report, § 17.

 $^{^{156}~}$ See, e.g., Council Directive 98/27, 1998 O.J. (L 166) 51.

¹⁵⁷ Cf. Valencia (Colombia) v Bancolombia (Colombia), 24 April 2003 – Arbitral Tribunal from the Bogotá Chamber of Commerce, digest by Eduardo Zuleta for Institute for Transnational Arbitration (ITA), available on kluwerarbitration.com (suggesting existence of judicial class action in Colombia).

¹⁵⁸ 473 U.S. 614 (1985).

 $^{^{159}\;\;1}$ June 1999, C-126-97, [1999] ECR I-3055.

¹⁶⁰ *Ibid*.

¹⁶¹ Brulard & Quintin, p. 539.

more radical authors reject the application of public policy rules external to the *lex contractus*, because they see no justification for an obligation to apply such public policy rules *ex officio*. . . . The hostility . . . may be explained by the fact that the mandatory character of public policy rules fades away as a result of the international character of the dispute. Indeed, even if the contract is international, rules of public policy apply only where there is a link between the dispute and the State that is the author of such rules. ¹⁶²

Thus, the question of whether one nation's public policy may be applied in situations where that law has not been chosen appears open.

Some difficulty may arise when considering "whether a principle forming part of [an enforcing state's] legal system must be considered sufficiently fundamental to justify a refusal to recognize or enforce an award." ¹⁶³ In those circumstances, the ILA Final Report indicates that "a court should take into account, on the one hand, the international nature of the case and its connection with the legal system of the forum, and, on the other hand, the existence or otherwise of a consensus within the international community as regards the principle under consideration," with international conventions possibly evidencing the existence of such a consensus. ¹⁶⁴ Only if the enforcement of the award would "manifestly disrupt the essential political, social or economic interests" protected by the rule of public policy, should the policy be given effect. ¹⁶⁵ Failure to raise a fundamental principle of public policy in the arbitration itself can lead to waiver.

Because class arbitration is an entirely new mechanism in the international arbitral realm, it does not fit easily into the standard commentary regarding appropriate grounds for non-enforcement based on substantive public policy. It is most likely that objectors will focus their arguments on how class arbitration violates fundamental principles of law concerning the exercise of individual rights in the enforcing state. Objections could also be based on any punitive damages elements (though those could be severable)¹⁶⁶ or on the claim that matters involving substantive public policy, especially economic policy, exist outside the realm of arbitration (though that argument is questionable in many jurisdictions). Interestingly, states that would otherwise be hostile to class arbitration may find consumer actions less objectionable, since that is an area where national or regional legislation has often created a form of representative action.

c. Public policy objections to class action judgments

Although there are no cases yet addressing the international enforcement of class awards, it can be useful to see how non-US states deal with requests to enforce US judgments in class actions against non-US corporate defendants. In actions to enforce judgments, courts typically look to see whether the judgment violates the enforcing state's notions of substantive or procedural public policy, which is similar to the procedure used for objections under article V(2)(b) of the New York Convention. In particular, the procedural peculiarities of US-style class actions (and thus, by extension, class arbitrations) "might lead a foreign court to look more closely at the procedure to determine whether it satisfies the foreign country's public policy concerns." ¹⁶⁷

While commentators have indicated that it might be inappropriate to undertake a wholesale transplantation of US-style class actions into non-US legal systems, they have acknowledged that the US system has some

¹⁶² *Ibid.*, p. 540.

¹⁶³ ILA Final Report, rec. 2(b).

¹⁶⁴ *Ibid*.

¹⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, rec. 3(b).

See, e.g., New York Convention, 330 U.N.T.S. 3, art. V(1)(c). See also Protection of Trading Interests Act 1980 (United Kingdom), ch. 11, §§ 5-6 (refusing to recognize foreign judgments that include punitive damages).

¹⁶⁷ Dreyfuss, p. 7.

merits, such as acting as a deterrent and increasing access to justice for consumers. 168 However, concerns about the nature of individual rights in litigation still exist, and it appears that objections to enforcement could be raised by a corporate defendant even in arbitrations where the plaintiffs are satisfied with the way the action progressed and would not assert any objections on their own behalf. These procedural objections might be based on essential rights of defence protected by domestic constitutions. For example, Italian courts have determined in the context of actions to enforce foreign judgments that the "right of defence" – such as the right to oppose an action for the protection of one's interests – is an expression of Italian procedural policy and one of the "supreme principles of the constitutional system." The same view exists as a matter of Spanish constitutional law.¹⁷⁰ In Italy, the adversary process principle (*principio del contraddittorio*) requires that the parties have a real opportunity to advocate their positions at every stage of the proceedings. Defendants, in particular, have the right to challenge the legal and factual claims asserted against them. When considering whether to enforce foreign judgments, Italian courts do not look to see if the procedures of the foreign court are the same as those used in Italy; instead, the Italian courts look at "the concepts that inspire the [Italian] legal system and, more precisely, . . . the fundamental principles recognized by the legislature to be necessary conditions for the very existence of society."171 To be upheld, the foreign judgment must have been issued by a proceeding that "substantially guaranteed the parties an adequate opportunity to be heard" and "honored the essential rights of defense of all the parties . . . throughout the duration of the proceeding."172

This reading of Italian courts' predilections regarding enforcement of foreign judgments could signal trouble for those who might want to enforce a class arbitration award in Italy or in any jurisdiction that adopts a similar approach to the rights of defence. For example, a class arbitration – like a class action – "might impair the defendant's ability to ascertain necessary information and might deprive the defendant of the opportunity to develop essential elements of defense with which to confront the claimants," particularly if the class arbitration procedure "treats discrete claims as fungible claims," which might offend the principle both of defence and of the opportunity present evidence. Because a class action and a class arbitration "might hold an Italian defendant liable for damages to unknown or unidentified plaintiffs despite the defendant's inability to challenge their individual claims," an Italian court might refuse to enforce a judgment or arbitral award. Interestingly, the same problem might not exist in actions to enforce a class award providing injunctive or declarative relief only.

The Italian view is not universal. Other state courts have found US class proceedings inoffensive to the enforcing state's public policies. In particular, England – which does not have a particularly robust view of representative actions and resembles civil law systems to some extent – has found that US class actions do not violate principles of natural justice (procedural public policy) and will thus enforce class judgments. The issue will therefore likely come down to how each state views the legitimacy of representative proceedings and the type of relief requested.

¹⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 8; Taruffo, pp. 412-13.

 $^{^{169}\,\,}$ Dreyfuss, p. 17 (quoting a 1982 Italian Constitutional Court decision).

 $^{^{170}~}$ Cairns, p. 593 (citing Sentencia Tribunal Constitucional de 15 de abril de 1986 (RTC 1986, 43)).

¹⁷¹ Dreyfuss, pp. 25-26 (translating and quoting a 1980 Italian decision).

 $^{^{172}\,\,}$ Ibid. p. 26 (translating and quoting Italian commentary).

¹⁷³ *Ibid.* p. 27.

¹⁷⁴ *Ibid*.

 $^{^{175}\,}$ Campos v Kentucky & Ind. Terminal Rly, [1962] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 459, 473.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

5.1. Current Status of International Class Arbitration

Three factors indicate that international class arbitration will become an increasingly common occurrence. First, the United States Supreme Court's recognition of class arbitration as a legitimate dispute resolution device in *Green Tree Financial Corp v Bazzle*¹⁷⁶ and the publication of the AAA Supplementary Rules and the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules mean that class arbitration has matured to the point where it is no longer seen as an anomalous procedural mechanism limited to a few US states. Indeed, the AAA has been asked to administer over 120 class arbitrations to date, and many other class arbitrations may be proceeding on an *ad hoc* basis or under the administration of JAMS, which does not publish its class arbitration docket. Second, class arbitration has been considered a potentially acceptable process outside of the US, with states such as Canada and Colombia discussing class arbitration in the domestic realm. This demonstrates that class arbitration is not limited to the United States. Third, international class arbitrations already exist in three different forms: (1) situations where a defendant resides outside the country where the arbitration is seated, (2) situations where a defendant resides in the country where the arbitration is seated, but has significant assets in other countries; and (3) situations where the claimant class includes individuals resident outside the country where the arbitration is seated.¹⁷⁷

This Article has focused primarily on issues raised by the first two types of international class arbitration, looking at enforcement concerns that do not arise in traditional forms of international arbitration. Two of the most likely problem areas involve due process and public policy, since states that do not embrace representative actions may refuse to enforce class awards under the New York Convention on both grounds. Because the United States is the jurisdiction with (1) the most practical experience in class arbitration and (2) the most pro-class arbitration viewpoint (in terms of legal and social philosophy), it is likely that most international class arbitrations will be seated in the United States, at least in the near future. Challenges to a US-seated proceeding are thus likely to come at the enforcement stage. However, class arbitrations may be seated anywhere, and some challenges based on due process or public policy could come about through motions to vacate or set aside a class award issued in a non-US class arbitration. Regardless of whether an objection to an international class award arises in an action to enforce the award or set it aside, the form of the due process and public policy analyses will likely be similar.

When objecting to enforcement on due process grounds under article V(1)(b) of the New York Convention, the matter is considered from the perspective of the seat of the arbitration or the state whose laws govern the arbitral procedure. The two primary objections will be based on notice and the ability to present one's case. However, gross violations of due process can rise to a procedural public policy concern, which might result in the application of the enforcing state's due process standards.

Unlike challenges based on due process, challenges based on either procedural or substantive public policy are considered from the perspective of the state of enforcement in an action under article V(2)(b) of the New York Convention. Procedural public policy concerns include due process issues as well as other matters, such as biased arbitrators or irregularities in the arbitration procedure, that are not unique to class arbitration. Several possible objections to class awards based on substantive public policy concerns exist. For example, challenges might be based on conflicts with fundamental principles of law, including those regarding prohibitions on the abuse of rights, or on awards involving punitive damages and economic policy. Each of

¹⁷⁶ 539 U.S. 444 (2003).

¹⁷⁷ See note 2 and accompanying text.

these potential objections will be discussed below in the context of recommendations on how to increase the enforceability of an international class award.

5.2. International Class Arbitration Going Forward

Although there do not appear to be any reported cases concerning the enforcement of a foreign class award under the New York Convention, several recommendations can be made about how to increase the likelihood of creating an internationally enforceable class award. Parties and arbitrators should keep these recommendations in mind when (a) drafting the arbitration agreement and (b) making decisions about the arbitral procedure.

First, parties and arbitrators should consider adopting a specialized procedural rule set such as the AAA Supplementary Rules or the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules. Whether the rules are used on a binding basis or merely as procedural guidelines, they will help structure the arbitration in a way that will increase the likelihood that due process concerns will be met. For the reasons described above, the AAA Supplementary Rules seem slightly preferable to the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules, except in cases where the parties have a high need for confidentiality.

Second, parties should consider carefully where the arbitration will be seated. Because due process is considered from the perspective of the seat of arbitration or the state whose laws govern arbitral procedure, those who wish to increase the enforceability of an international class award should seat the arbitration in a jurisdiction that is amenable to class or representative proceedings. While it is arguably possible for parties to seat an arbitration in one state and indicate that the arbitral procedure is to be governed by the law of a different (pro-class arbitration) state, the seat will always retain some control over the procedure of the arbitration.¹⁷⁸ Thus it is safer to seat the arbitration in a jurisdiction that has been proven to support representative actions in its courts or, even better, in arbitration. The safest jurisdiction is the United States, since class arbitration is widespread and relatively mature in the US and the only two procedural rule sets for class arbitration (the AAA Supplementary Rules and the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules) are based on the US Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Even if parties choose to use one of the two class arbitration rule sets, they still should seat their proceedings in the US or another pro-class arbitration state, since the seat will always retain an interest in the protection of parties' due process rights, regardless of the parties' attempt to override state law through the choice of procedural rules.

Although the US is undoubtedly the best jurisdiction in which to seat an international class arbitration, other states may also prove able to produce enforceable class awards. At this point, parties would be well advised to choose common law jurisdictions, such as Canada and Australia, that permit broad, US-style representative actions. Civil law nations are less likely to be amenable to class arbitrations, though the most forceful objections from those jurisdictions will likely arise as a matter of public policy rather than due process. If the arbitral cause of action fell into an area that civil law legislatures have considered particularly amenable to collective action - such as consumer protection in the European Union and its Member States - a class arbitration might be appropriately seated in a civil law jurisdiction, particularly if injunctive or declaratory relief were sought, as opposed to individual damages. However, it is not recommended that class arbitrations be seated in a civil law jurisdiction until it has been established that such awards are enforceable in that country as a foreign award under the New York Convention. By doing so, parties can avoid motions to set aside an award.

 $^{^{178}~}$ See Union of India v McDonnell Douglas Corp [1993] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 48, 50-51.

Third, parties should consider where to enforce an international class award. Enforcement issues are troublesome for two reasons. First, parties have less of an ability to "forum shop" to avoid countries whose public policies prohibit or limit representative relief. Enforcement decisions are typically based on pragmatic considerations involving the location of assets, and it may be that assets are simply not available in a country that has proven itself amenable to class arbitration. Thus, parties will have to take their enforcement actions as they find them. While some claimants will be able to rank the likelihood of success in different states and file their enforcement actions accordingly (just as claimants in non-class arbitrations do), other claimants will have no choice but to proceed in jurisdictions that are likely to oppose class arbitration as a matter of principle.

Second, the public policy concerns enunciated by civil law countries regarding the propriety of representative actions (be they judicial or arbitral) exist at a fundamental level, and it is unclear whether even the most proarbitration policy will be sufficient to offset them. Many civil law nations have demonstrated a disinclination to enforce US judicial class actions based on a fundamental jurisprudential opposition to representative actions, and it may be that this hostility will also extend to class arbitrations. Conversely, it may be that some of the special features of arbitration will allow civil law nations to enforce foreign class awards despite concerns about the protection of the rights of absent class members and of defendants faced with generalized legal and factual claims. For example, it could be said that the choice to arbitrate one's disputes leads inexorably to a decision to allow class arbitration, or that the choice not to opt out of proceedings means that the party has agreed to exercise its right to dispute resolution now and in this type of procedure. The latter argument - that failure to opt out constitutes an affirmative choice - does not seem to have been persuasive in actions to enforce judgments arising out of judicial class actions, but the former argument, regarding the choice to arbitrate, may be persuasive, both with respect to concerns about claimants' rights and defendants' rights.

Furthermore, a strong pro-arbitration policy could lead states that are normally hostile to representative relief to view the enforcement of a foreign class award as not injurious to domestic public policy. Indeed, as the Queen's Bench Commercial Court stated when ruling to enforce an award based on a contract that would be unenforceable in English courts under English law: "the reason for the different result is that Swiss law is different from English law, and the parties chose Swiss law and Swiss arbitration. If anything, this consideration dictates (as a matter of policy of the upholding of international arbitral awards) that the award should be enforced." 179 The court went on, "[i]t is legitimate to conclude that there is nothing which offends English public policy if an arbitral tribunal enforces a contract which does not offend the domestic public policy under either the proper law of the contract or its curial law, even if English domestic public policy might have taken a different view."180 While England is a common law nation, the view that courts ought not go behind an arbitral award in an action under the New York Convention is shared equally by many civil law nations.

There is no doubt that representative proceedings can be problematic from both a practical and jurisprudential standpoint. Nevertheless, the advantages of class arbitrations seem to outweigh the disadvantages, particularly when claimants would be unlikely to arbitrate to recover very small sums. However, the international arbitral community does not need to rely solely on efficiency arguments when considering how to treat international class awards on a going forward basis. Instead, class arbitration can be upheld – even by states that have traditionally resisted the incorporation of representative actions into their own national systems or that have refused to enforce judgments in foreign class actions - for several reasons that are consistent with existing law and policy concerning international arbitration.

 $^{^{179}\,\,}$ Omnium de Traitement et de Valorisation SA v Hilmarton Ltd [1999] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 222, 224.

¹⁸⁰ *Ibid.*, pp. 224-25.

First, arbitration is a dispute resolution procedure that is known for its innovation and informality. Thus, procedures that might not be adopted for court use can form the basis of a binding arbitration. Furthermore, international arbitration is known for its amalgamation of civil law and common law procedures. Although class arbitration currently reflects its common law origins, civil law lawyers can and should help shape its future development. If civil law jurisdictions reject the procedure on a wholesale basis, they will not be able to play a role in its evolution.

Second, class arbitration meets the necessary criteria for due process under the New York Convention. Article V(1)(b) only requires "proper notice," and the notice required under both the AAA Supplementary Rules and the JAMS Class Arbitration Rules (i.e., the "best notice practicable") meets that standard. According to US jurisprudence (which forms the basis for both sets of arbitral rules), "the best notice practicable" often requires actual notice to parties that can be reasonably identified. Furthermore, arbitrators will, as a matter of good practice, ensure that any necessary notice complies with the requirements of the forum state. If the arbitrators do not do so, then non-enforcement is permitted, just as it would be in any non-class arbitration. The issue of notice should thus be treated the same as it is in any other arbitration.

Similarly, concerns about the opportunity to present or defend one's case ought not create a per se obstacle to enforcement. The economies of scale described by Judge Weinstein in judicial class actions are even more apparent in class arbitration, where few claimants will seek to enforce their rights when a very low reward is offset by high arbitration costs. While procedural efficiency has not yet been given equal weight with notice and the right to present one's case in a due process analysis, Gabrielle Kaufmann-Kohler has argued that it is becoming a factor that can and should be considered.¹⁸¹ Furthermore, experienced arbitrators – like judges - can determine whether class counsel and the party representatives are pursuing the case adequately, thus adding an additional layer of protection for absent class members. It is unlikely that unsophisticated, non-named parties would be able to make superior arguments, and if the parties think that they can do so, they are entitled to bring their own counsel to any hearings (under the AAA Supplementary Rules), enter an objection at a fairness hearing or opt out of the procedure entirely.

Third, due process concerns ought not be permitted to rise to the level of public policy concerns so as to allow imposition of standards of a state other than the arbitral seat. While there are limits to party autonomy, class arbitration, properly executed, does not violate narrowly construed international notions of due process norms.

Fourth – and perhaps most controversially – civil law conceptions of individual rights should not act as a per se policy bar to international class arbitration. As important as public policy is, the only public policy that should be considered a proper ground for non-enforcement is international public policy, not domestic public policy. While civil law jurisdictions have weighed up the policy considerations for and against representative actions differently than common law jurisdictions have, at least in the context of litigation, it cannot be disputed that there are legitimate arguments in favour of allowing representative actions. In fact, there are fewer disadvantages to representative actions in arbitration than there are in litigation. Furthermore, the public policy concerns might be lessened when one considers that parties can be said to have agreed to representative proceedings (either through the initial agreement to arbitrate or through the failure to opt out). Since parties to arbitration are deemed to have bargained for a dispute resolution procedure with fewer due process protections and/or different procedures than litigation, civil law jurisdictions should not intervene in the parties' agreed dispute resolution process based on domestic formulations of rights. This is particularly true when the award results from an arbitration that is governed by different procedural and substantive laws and is consistent with the public policy of that state or states.

¹⁸¹ See note 107 and accompanying text.

International class arbitrations have the potential to address civil wrongs that would otherwise go unremedied and provide relief to individuals who would otherwise be unwilling or unable to enforce their rights. Though courts and commentators will have to monitor the development of this procedure, the international arbitral community should encourage enforcement of class awards on the same terms as other arbitral awards.

Select Bibliography of cited and background material

Baumgartner, Samuel P., *Class Actions and Group Litigation in Switzerland*, 27 Northwestern Journal of International Law and Business 301 (2007) ["Baumgartner 1"]

----, *Debates over Group Litigation in Comparative Perspective*, 2 International Law Forum du Droit Internationale 254 (2000) ["Baumgartner 2"]

Böckstiegel, Karl-Heinz, *Public Policy and Arbitrability, in* Comparative Arbitration Practice and Public Policy 177 (Pieter Sanders ed., Kluwer, 1987)

Brulard, Yves & Yves Quintin, European Community Law and Arbitration – National Versus Community Public Policy, 18 Journal of International Arbitration 535 (2001)

Buckner, Carole J., *Toward a Pure Arbitral Paradigm of Classwide Arbitration: Arbitral Power and Federal Preemption*, 82 Denver University Law Review 301 (2004) ["Buckner 1"]

----, Due Process in Class Arbitration, 58 Florida Law Review 185 (2006) ["Buckner 2"]

Buschkin, Ilana T., The Viability of Class Action Lawsuits in a Globalized Economy – Permitting Foreign Claimants to be Members of Class Action Lawsuits in the US Federal Courts, 90 Cornell Law Review 1563 (2005)

Cairns, David J.A., *The Spanish Application of the UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration*, 22 Arbitration International 573 (2006)

Cappalli, Richard B. & Claudio Consolo, *Class Actions for Continental Europe? A Preliminary Inquiry*, 6 Temple International & Comparative Law Journal 217 (1992)

Carbonneau, Thomas E., *Arbitral Justice: The Demise of Due Process in American Law*, 70 Tulane Law Review 1945 (1996)

Chase, Oscar G., et al., Civil Litigation in Comparative Context (ThomsonWest, 2007)

Dreyfuss, Richard H., *Class Action Judgment Enforcement in Italy: Procedural Due Process Requirements*, 10 Tulane Journal of International & Comparative Law 5 (2002)

Fortier, L. Yves, *The Occasionally Unwarranted Assumption of Confidentiality*, 15 Arbitration International 131 (1999)

Gidi, Antonio, *Class Actions in Brazil – A Model for Civil Law Countries*, 51 American Journal of Comparative Law 311 (2003)

Harris, Troy L., The "Public Policy" Exception to Enforcement of International Arbitration Awards Under the New York Convention With Particular Reference to Construction Disputes, 24 Journal of International Arbitration 9 (2003)

Inoue, Osamu, *The Due Process Defense to Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards in United States Federal Courts: A Proposal for a Standard*, 11 American Review of International Arbitration 247 (2000)

International Law Association, Committee on International Commercial Arbitration Final Report on Public Policy as a Bar to Enforcement of International Arbitral Awards, New Delhi Conference (2002) ["ILA Final Report"]

----, Committee on International Commercial Arbitration Interim Report on Public Policy as a Bar to Enforcement of International Arbitral Awards, London Conference (2000) ["ILA Interim Report"]

Jaksic, Aleksandar, *Procedural Guarantees of Human Rights in Arbitration Proceedings: A Still Unsettled Problem?* 24 Journal of International Arbitration 159 (2003)

Kaufmann-Kohler, Gabrielle, *Globalization of Arbitral Procedure*, 36 Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law 1313 (2003)

Kurkela, Matti S. & Hannes Snellman, Due Process in International Commercial Arbitration (Oxford University Press, 2005)

Lew, Julian D.M., et al., Comparative International Commercial Arbitration (Kluwer, 2003)

Mistelis, Loukas A., *Confidentiality and Third Party Participation:* UPS v. Canada *and* Methanex Corporation v. United States, 21 Arbitration International 211 (2005) ["Mistelis 1"]

-----, International Law Association – London Conference (2000) Committee on International Commercial Arbitration "Keeping the Unruly Horse in Control" or Public Policy as a Bar to Enforcement of (Foreign) Arbitral Awards, 2 International Law Forum de Droit Internationale 248 (2000) ["Mistelis 2"].

Mulheron, Rachael, The Class Action in Common Law Legal Systems: A Comparative Perspective (Hart Publishing, 2004)

O'Hare, Judith, *The Denial of Due Process and the Enforceability of CIETAC Awards Under the New York Convention – the Hong Kong Experience*, 13 Journal of International Arbitration 179 (1996)

Park, William W. & Alexander A. Yanos, *Treaty Obligations and National Law: Emerging Conflicts in International Arbitration*, 58 Hastings Law Journal 251 (2006)

Platte, Martin, *An Arbitrator's Duty to Render Enforceable Awards*, 20 Journal of International Arbitration 307 (2003)

Redfern, Alan & Martin Hunter, Law and Practice of International Commercial Arbitration (Sweet & Maxwell, 2004)

Rothstein, Barbara J. & Thomas E. Willging, Managing Class Action Litigation: A Pocket Guide for Judges (Federal Judicial Center, 2005)

Samuel, Adam, Arbitration, Alternative Dispute Resolution Generally and the European Convention on Human Rights: An Anglo-Centric View, 21 Journal of International Arbitration 413 (2004)

Schwebel, Stephen M. & Susan G. Lahne, *Public Policy and Arbitral Procedure, in* Comparative Arbitration Practice and Public Policy 205 (Pieter Sanders ed., Kluwer, 1987)

Sherman, Edward F., *Group Litigation Under Foreign Legal Systems: Variations and Alternatives to American Class Actions*, 52 DePaul Law Review 401 (2002)

Smit, Hans, *Class Actions and Their Waiver in Arbitration*, 15 American Review of International Arbitration 99 (2004)

Spence, Scott Armstrong, Organizing an Arbitration Involving an International Organization and Multiple Private Parties: The Example of the Bank for International Settlements Arbitration, 21 Journal of International Arbitration 309 (2004)

Sternlight, Jean R., As Mandatory Binding Arbitration Meets the Class Action, Will the Class Action Survive? 42 William & Mary Law Review 1 (2000)

----- & Elizabeth J. Jensen, *Using Arbitration to Eliminate Consumer Class Actions: Efficient Business Practice or Unconscionable Abuse?* 67 Law & Contemporary Problems 75 (2004)

Strong, S.I., Consolidation and Class Arbitration in the International Realm: Analogous or Anomalous? (forthcoming)

Taruffo, Michele, *Some Remarks on Group Litigation in Comparative Perspective*, 11 Duke Journal of Comparative & International Law 405 (2001)

Tweeddale, Andrew, Confidentiality in Arbitration and the Public Interest Exception, 21 Arbitration International 59 (2005)

Weidemaier, W. Mark C., Arbitration and the Individuation Critique, 49 Arizona Law Review 69 (2007)

Weinstein, Jack B., *Compensating Large Numbers of People for Inflicted Harms*, 11 Duke Journal of Comparative & International Law 165 (2001)

Weston, Maureen A., *Universes Colliding: The Constitutional Implications of Arbitral Class Actions*, 47 William & Mary Law Review 1711 (2006)



Boletín de Suscripción

Deseo recibir los próximos números de los Documentos de Trabajo de la Serie *"Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias"* del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos de la Universidad CEU San Pablo:

Nombre y Apellidos			
	C.P		
Teléfono	Correo e	lectrónico	

Usted tiene derecho a acceder a la información que le concierne, recopilada en nuestro fichero de clientes, y cancelarla o rectificarla en el caso de ser errónea. A través del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos podrá recibir información de su interés. Si no desea recibirla, le rogamos que nos lo haga saber mediante comunicación escrita con todos sus datos.

Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Universidad CEU San Pablo Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid E-mail: idee@ceu.es

Tfno: 91 514 04 22 | Fax: 91 514 04 28

www.idee.ceu.es



Boletín de Solicitud de números anteriores

Deseo recibir los números siguientes de los Documentos de Trabajo de la Serie *"Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias"* del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos de la Universidad CEU San Pablo:

	idos		
	C.P.		
	Co		
No	Título		

Usted tiene derecho a acceder a la información que le concierne, recopilada en nuestro fichero de clientes, y cancelarla o rectificarla en el caso de ser errónea. A través del Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos podrá recibir información de su interés. Si no desea recibirla, le rogamos que nos lo haga saber mediante comunicación escrita con todos sus datos.

Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Universidad CEU San Pablo Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid E-mail: idee@ceu.es

Tfno: 91 514 04 22 | Fax: 91 514 04 28

www.idee.ceu.es

Números Publicados

Serie Unión Europea

Nº 1 2000	"La política monetaria única de la Unión Europea" Rafael Pampillón Olmedo
Nº 2 2000	"Nacionalismo e integración" Leonardo Caruana de las Cagigas y Eduardo González Calleja
Nº 1 2001	"Standard and Harmonize: Tax Arbitrage" Nohemi Boal Velasco y Mariano Gónzalez Sánchez
Nº 2 2001	"Alemania y la ampliación al este: convergencias y divergencias" José María Beneyto Pérez
Nº 3 2001	"Towards a common European diplomacy? Analysis of the European Parliament resolution on establishing a common diplomacy (A5-0210/2000)" Belén Becerril Atienza y Gerardo Galeote Quecedo
Nº 4 2001	"La Política de Inmigración en la Unión Europea" Patricia Argerey Vilar
Nº 1 2002	"ALCA: Adiós al modelo de integración europea?" Mario Jaramillo Contreras
Nº 2 2002	"La crisis de Oriente Medio: Palestina" Leonardo Caruana de las Cagigas
Nº 3 2002	"El establecimiento de una delimitación más precisa de las competencias entre la Unión Europea y los Estados miembros" José María Beneyto y Claus Giering
Nº 4 2002	"La sociedad anónima europea" Manuel García Riestra
Nº 5 2002	"Jerarquía y tipología normativa, procesos legislativos y separación de poderes en la Unión Europea: hacia un modelo más claro y transparente" Alberto Gil Ibáñez
Nº 6 2002	"Análisis de situación y opciones respecto a la posición de las Regiones en el ámbito de la UE. Especial atención al Comité de las Regiones" Alberto Gil Ibáñez
Nº 7 2002	"Die Festlegung einer genaueren Abgrenzung der Kompetenzen zwischen der Europäischen Union und den Mitgliedstaaten" José María Beneyto y Claus Giering
Nº 1 2003	"Un español en Europa. Una aproximación a Juan Luis Vives" José Peña González
Nº 2 2003	"El mercado del arte y los obstáculos fiscales ¿Una asignatura pendiente en la Unión Europea?" Pablo Siegrist Ridruejo

Nº 1 2004	"Evolución en el ámbito del pensamiento de las relaciones España-Europa" José Peña González
Nº 2 2004	"La sociedad europea: un régimen fragmentario con intención armonizadora" Alfonso Martínez Echevarría y García de Dueñas
Nº 3 2004	"Tres operaciones PESD: Bosnia i Herzegovina, Macedonia y República Democrática de Congo" Berta Carrión Ramírez
Nº 4 2004	"Turquía: El largo camino hacia Europa" Delia Contreras
Nº 5 2004	"En el horizonte de la tutela judicial efectiva, el TJCE supera la interpretación restrictiva de la legitimación activa mediante el uso de la cuestión prejudicial y la excepción de ilegalidad" Alfonso Rincón García Loygorri
Nº 1 2005	"The Biret cases: what effects do WTO dispute settlement rulings have in EU law?" Adrian Emch
Nº 2 2005	"Las ofertas públicas de adquisición de títulos desde la perspectiva comunitaria en el marco de la creación de un espacio financiero integrado" José María Beneyto y José Puente
Nº 3 2005	"Las regiones ultraperiféricas de la UE: evolución de las mismas como consecuencia de las políticas específicas aplicadas. Canarias como ejemplo" Carlota González Láynez
Nº 24 2006	"El Imperio Otomano: ¿por tercera vez a las puertas de Viena?" Alejandra Arana
Nº 25 2006	"Bioterrorismo: la amenaza latente" Ignacio Ibáñez Ferrándiz
Nº 26 2006	"Inmigración y redefinición de la identidad europea" Diego Acosta Arcarazo
Nº 27 2007	"Procesos de integración en Sudamérica. Un proyecto más ambicioso: la comunidad sudamericana de naciones" Raquel Turienzo Carracedo
Nº 28 2007	"El poder del derecho en el orden internacional. Estudio crítico de la aplicación de la norma democrática por el Consejo de Seguridad y la Unión Europea" Gaspar Atienza Becerril
Nº 29 2008	"Iraqi Kurdistan: Past, Present and Future. A look at the history, the contemporary situation and the future for the Kurdish parts of Iraq" Egil Thorsås
Nº 30 2008	"Los desafíos de la creciente presencia de China en el continente africano" Marisa Caroço Amaro

Serie Política de la Competencia

Nº 1 2001	"El control de concentraciones en España: un nuevo marco legislativo para las empresas" José María Beneyto
Nº 2 2001	"Análisis de los efectos económicos y sobre la competencia de la concentración Endesa- Iberdrola" Luis Atienza, Javier de Quinto y Richard Watt
Nº 3 2001	"Empresas en Participación concentrativas y artículo 81 del Tratado CE: Dos años de aplicación del artículo 2(4) del Reglamento CE de control de las operaciones de concentración" Jerónimo Maíllo González-Orús
Nº 1 2002	"Cinco años de aplicación de la Comunicación de 1996 relativa a la no imposición de multas o a la reducción de su importe en los asuntos relacionados con los acuerdos entre empresas" Miguel Ángel Peña Castellot
Nº 2 2002	"Leniency: la política de exoneración del pago de multas en derecho de la competencia" Santiago Illundaín Fontoya
Nº 3 2002	"Dominancia vs. disminución sustancial de la competencia ¿cuál es el criterio más apropiado?: aspectos jurídicos" Mercedes García Pérez
Nº 4 2002	"Test de dominancia vs. test de reducción de la competencia: aspectos económicos" Juan Briones Alonso
Nº 5 2002	"Telecomunicaciones en España: situación actual y perspectivas" Bernardo Pérez de León Ponce
Nº 6 2002	"El nuevo marco regulatorio europeo de las telecomunicaciones" Jerónimo González González y Beatriz Sanz Fernández-Vega
Nº 1 2003	"Some Simple Graphical Interpretations of the Herfindahl-Hirshman Index and their Implications" Richard Watt y Javier De Quinto
Nº 2 2003	"La Acción de Oro o las privatizaciones en un Mercado Único" Pablo Siegrist Ridruejo, Jesús Lavalle Merchán, Emilia Gargallo González
Nº 3 2003	"El control comunitario de concentraciones de empresas y la invocación de intereses nacionales. Crítica del artículo 21.3 del Reglamento 4064/89" Pablo Berenguer O´Shea y Vanessa Pérez Lamas
Nº 1 2004	"Los puntos de conexión en la Ley 1/2002 de 21 de febrero de coordinación de las competencias del Estado y las Comunidades Autónomas en materia de defensa de la competencia" Lucana Estévez Mendoza
Nº 2 2004	"Los impuestos autonómicos sobre los grandes establecimientos comerciales como ayuda de Estado ilícita ex art. 87 TCE" Francisco Marcos
Nº 1 2005	"Servicios de Interés General y Artículo 86 del Tratado CE: Una Visión Evolutiva" Jerónimo Maillo González-Orús

Nº 2 2005	"La evaluación de los registros de morosos por el Tribunal de Defensa de la Competencia" Alfonso Rincón García Loygorri
Nº 3 2005	"El código de conducta en materia de fiscalidad de las empresas y su relación con el régimen comunitario de ayudas de Estado" Alfonso Lamadrid de Pablo
Nº 18 2006	"Régimen sancionador y clemencia: comentarios al título quinto del anteproyecto de la ley de defensa de la competencia" Miguel Ángel Peña Castellot
Nº 19 2006	"Un nuevo marco institucional en la defensa de la competencia en España" Carlos Padrós Reig
Nº 20 2006	"Las ayudas públicas y la actividad normativa de los poderes públicos en el anteproyecto de ley de defensa de la competencia de 2006" Juan Arpio Santacruz
Nº 21 2006	"La intervención del Gobierno en el control de concentraciones económicas" Albert Sánchez Graells
Nº 22 2006	"La descentralización administrativa de la aplicación del Derecho de la competencia en España" José Antonio Rodríguez Miguez
Nº 23 2007	"Aplicación por los jueces nacionales de la legislación en materia de competencia en el Proyecto de Ley" Juan Manuel Fernández López
Nº 24 2007	"El tratamiento de las restricciones públicas a la competencia" Francisco Marcos Fernández
Nº 25 2008	"Merger Control in the Pharmaceutical Sector and the Innovation Market Assessment. European Analysis in Practice and differences with the American Approach" Teresa Lorca Morales
Nº 26 2008	"Separación de actividades en el sector eléctrico" Joaquín Mª Nebreda Pérez
Nº 27 2008	"Arbitraje y Defensa de la Competencia" Antonio Creus Carreras y Josep Maria Julià Insenser
Nº 28 2008	"El procedimiento de control de concentraciones y la supervisión por organismos reguladores de las Ofertas Públicas de Adquisición"

Francisco Marcos Fernández

Serie Economía Europea

Nº 1 / 2001	"Impacto económico de la inmigración de los Países de Europa Central y Oriental a la Unión Europa" Mª del Mar Herrador Morales
Nº 1 / 2002	"Análisis de la financiación de los Fondos Estructurales en el ámbito de la política regional de la Unión Europea durante el período 1994-1999" Cristina Isabel Dopacio
Nº 2 / 2002	"On capital structure in the small and medium enterprises: the spanish case" Francisco Sogorb Mira
Nº 3 / 2002	"European Union foreign direct investment flows to Mercosur economies: an analysis of the country-of-origin determinants" Martha Carro Fernández
Nº 1 / 2004	"¿Es necesario reformar el Pacto de Estabilidad y Crecimiento?" Ana Cristina Mingorance
Nº 2 / 2004	"Perspectivas financieras 2007-2013: las nuevas prioridades de la Unión Europea y sus implicaciones en la política regional" Cristina Serrano Leal, Begoña Montoro de Zulueta y Enrique Viguera Rubio
Nº 3 / 2004	"Stabilisation Policy in EMU: The Case for More Active Fiscal Policy" María Jesús Arroyo Fernández y Jorge Uxó González
Nº 1 / 2005	"La negociación de las perspectivas financieras 2007-2013: Una historia de encuentros y desencuentros" Cristina Serrano Leal
Nº 9 / 2006	"La cuestión agrícola en las negociaciones comerciales multilaterales" Ana Fernández-Ardavín Martínez y Mª Ángeles Rodríguez Santos
Nº 10 / 2007	"El modelo de desarrollo finlandés y su posible adaptación a los países del Este" Zane Butina
Nº 11 / 2008	"La estrategia de Lisboa como respuesta de la UE a los retos de la globalización y al envejecimiento de su población" Miguel Moltó Calvo

Serie del Centro de Estudios de Cooperación al Desarrollo

Nº 1 / 2003	"Papel de la UE en las recientes cumbres internacionales" Mónica Goded Salto
Nº 1 / 2004	"La asociación Euro-Mediterránea: Un instrumento al servicio de la paz y la prosperidad" Jesús Antonio Núñez Villaverde
Nº 2 / 2004	"La retroalimentación en los sistemas de evaluación. Experiencias en la cooperación al desarrollo" José María Larrú Ramos
Nº 3 / 2004	"Migraciones y desarrollo: propuestas institucionales y experiencias prácticas" Carlos Giménez, Alberto Acosta, Jaime Atienza, Gemma Aubarell, Xabier Aragall
Nº 4 / 2004	"Responsabilidad social corporativa y PYMES" Amparo Merino de Diego
Nº 1 / 2005	"La relación ONG-Empresa en el marco de la responsabilidad social de la empresa" Carmen Valor y Amparo Merino
Nº 1 / 2008	"Dos modalidades de evaluación: evaluaciones de impacto aleatorias y evaluaciones participativas" José María Larrú Ramos y Jorge Lugrís Llerandi
Nº 2 / 2008	"A system not fit for purpose?" Sven Grimm
Nº 3 / 2008	"El fortalecimiento institucional de la sociedad civil: principal desafío de la cooperación internacional" Ramón E. Daubón
Nº 4 / 2009	"La relación entre las instituciones y el desarrollo económico de las naciones" Pablo Bandeira
Nº 5 / 2009	"El desarrollo institucional en el contexto de la ineficacia de la ayuda oficial: valoración crítica y propuestas de acción" Pablo Bandeira
Nº 6 / 2009	"El fortalecimiento de capacidades y el apoyo al desarrollo desde las bases: la experiencia de RedEAmérica" Rodrigo Villar

Serie Arbitraje Internacional y Resolución Alternativa de Controversias

Nº 1 / 2007	"Towards a new paradigm in international arbitration. The Town Elder model revisited" David W. Rivkin
Nº 2 / 2008	"Los árbitros y el poder para dictar condenas no pecuniarias" David Ramos Muñoz
Nº 3 / 2008	"La lucha contra las prerrogativas estatales en el arbitraje comercial internacional" José Fernando Merino Merchán
Nº 4 / 2008	"Due process and public policy in the international enforcement of class arbitration awards" Stacie I. Strong

Centro Internacional de Arbitraje, Mediación y Negociación

Presidente Evelio Verdera y Tuells

Director José María Beneyto Pérez

> Subdirector Gonzalo Stampa

Coordinadora Melissa Betances Herrera

Comité Asesor Centro Internacional de Arbitraje, Mediación y Negociación

José María Alonso Albert Van Den Berg Luis Cazorla Prieto Bernardo Cremades Guillermo De La Dehesa Juan Fernández Armesto **Emmanuel Galliard** Manuel García Cobaleda Kaj Hobér Tjaco Van Den Hout Hans Van Houtte Sigvard Jarvin Ahmed El-Kosheri Richard Kreindler Pierre Lalive Lord Mustill Fernando Pombo García **Daniel Price** Michael Pryles Klaus Sachs Christoph Schreuer Yasuhei Taniguchi David W. Rivkin Miquel Roca Junyent

Resumen: Este artículo analiza por primera vez aquellas cuestiones relacionadas con lo que se conoce como *International Class Arbitration*, un procedimiento de carácter colectivo que se ha utilizado en los Estados Unidos desde principios de los años 80. Con un gran número de *International Class Arbitrations* en marcha, es probable que surjan problemas relacionados con la legitimidad transnacional del proceso de *Class Arbitration* y la capacidad de ejecutar laudos colectivos internacionalmente. El presente artículo apoya la idea de que la Convención de Nueva York deberá ser la norma aplicable a los laudos colectivos del mismo modo que sucede con los laudos bilaterales.



Palabras clave: International Class Arbitration, Ejecución, Convención de Nueva York.

Abstract: This Article appears to be the first to address the unique issues relating to International Class Arbitration, a representative group proceeding that has been in use domestically in the United States since the early 1980s. With a number of known International Class Arbitrations in progress, questions concerning the transnational legitimacy of the Class Arbitration process and the ability to enforce class awards internationally will soon arise. This Article argues that the presumption of enforceability under the New York Convention should be applied to class awards to the same extent as it is applied to bilateral awards.

Keywords: International Class Arbitration, Enforceability, New York Convention.

Colaboran:







Instituto Universitario de Estudios Europeos Universidad CEU San Pablo Avda. del Valle 21, 28003 Madrid Teléfono: 91 514 04 22 | Fax: 91 514 04 28 idee@ceu.es, www.idee.ceu.es